





Health Impacts of Lowcarbon Transport in Cities Evidence for Better Policies



Corporate Partnership Board Report

Health Impacts of Lowcarbon Transport in Cities Evidence for Better Policies



Corporate Partnership Board Report

The International Transport Forum

The International Transport Forum is an intergovernmental organisation with 69 member countries. It acts as a think tank for transport policy and organises the Annual Summit of transport ministers. ITF is the only global body that covers all transport modes. The ITF is politically autonomous and administratively integrated with the OECD.

The ITF works for transport policies that improve peoples' lives. Our mission is to foster a deeper understanding of the role of transport in economic growth, environmental sustainability and social inclusion and to raise the public profile of transport policy.

The ITF organises global dialogue for better transport. We act as a platform for discussion and prenegotiation of policy issues across all transport modes. We analyse trends, share knowledge and promote exchange among transport decision-makers and civil society. The ITF's Annual Summit is the world's largest gathering of transport ministers and the leading global platform for dialogue on transport policy.

The Members of the Forum are: Albania, Argentina, Armenia, Australia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Brazil, Bulgaria, Cambodia, Canada, Chile, China (People's Republic of), Colombia, Costa Rica, Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Dominican Republic, Estonia, Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, India, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Kazakhstan, Korea, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Mexico, Republic of Moldova, Mongolia, Montenegro, Morocco, the Netherlands, New Zealand, North Macedonia, Norway, Oman, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Serbia, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Tunisia, Türkiye, Ukraine, the United Arab Emirates, the United Kingdom, the United States and Uzbekistan.

About the Corporate Partnership Board

The Corporate Partnership Board (CPB) is the ITF's platform for engaging with the private sector and enriching global transport policy discussion with a business perspective. The members of the ITF Corporate Partnership Board are: Airbus, Allianz Partners, Alstom, Amazon, Aramco, AutoCrypt, Bosch, bp, CEIIA, Cruise, DHL, DP World, Enel X, ExxonMobil, FS Italiane, Honda, Hyundai Motor Company, Iberdrola, Kakao Mobility, Michelin, Microsoft, Mott Macdonald, NXP, PTV Group, RATP Group, Rolls Royce, Shell, Siemens, TotalEnergies, Toyota, Trucknet, Uber, Valeo and Volvo Group.

Disclaimer

Funding for this work has been provided by the ITF Corporate Partnership Board. This report is published under the responsibility of the Secretary-General of the ITF. It has not been subject to the scrutiny of ITF or OECD member countries, and does not necessarily reflect their official views or those of the members of the Corporate Partnership Board.

Cite this work as: ITF (2024), "Health Impacts of Low-carbon Transport in Cities: Evidence for Better Policies", *International Transport Forum Policy Papers*, No. 141, OECD Publishing, Paris.

Acknowledgements

The principal authors of this report are Vatsalya Sohu, Mallory Trouvé and Pauline Baudens of the International Transport Forum (ITF). The report is informed by desk research and draws on contributions gathered in a hybrid (online and onsite) workshop, organised on 21 March 2024 with members of the ITF Corporate Partnership Board and external experts. It builds on in-house collaboration between the OECD modelling teams at the International Transport Forum and the Health Division of the Employment Labour and Social Affairs (ELS) directorate; namely Cédric Doucet, Aliénor Lerouge and Michele Cecchini from ELS.

The authors would like to thank the following individuals for their contributions and insightful comments during the review process:

Matthias Bollmann (DHL), Pauline Baudens (Tal Tech), Olof Bystrom (OECD – ENV), Cedric Doucet (OECD – ELS), Isabel Gomez (Iberdrola), Sonja Kahlmeier (Swiss Distance University of Applied Sciences), Meleckidzedeck Khayesi (World Health Organisation), Natalia Lleras (Walk21), Andréia Lopes Azevedo (Polis Network), Marina Lussich (Amazon), Soichiro Minami (Ministry of Land, Infrastructure and Tourism, Japan), Mark Nieuwenhuijsen (ISGlobal – Barcelona Institute for Global Health), Joy Pasquet (Amazon), Philippe Quirion (Centre national de la recherche scientifique, CNRS, France), Marta Rofin Serra (Bax and Company), Haruki Sawamura (Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism, Japan), Andreas Tautz (DHL), Juliette Tenart (Bax and Company), and Daniel Velazquez (ISGlobal – Barcelona Institute for Global Health).

The work for this report was carried out in the context of a project initiated and funded by the ITF's Corporate Partnership Board (CPB). CPB projects are designed to enrich policy discussion with a business perspective. They are launched in areas where CPB member companies identify an emerging issue in transport policy or an innovation challenge to the transport system.

Vatsalya Sohu managed the overall project. The authors would also like to thank ITF colleagues Edwina Collins for copy-editing the report, Elisabeth Windisch, Co-head of the ITF Research Centre and Philippe Crist, Senior Advisor – Innovation and Foresight for reviewing the report and providing constructive feedback towards improving it, and Sharon Masterson, who manages the activities of the ITF Corporate Partnership Board.

Table of contents

Executive summary	1
Key messages Main findings Top recommendations	1 1 2
Interconnectedness of transport, climate, and health	4
The notion of co-benefits between sectoral policies Health implications of low-carbon urban mobility	6
Evidence-based measures for promoting well-being through low-carbon mobility	10
Challenges in data collection and capacity building for evidence-based policy making Leveraging models for strategic policy making Transport, health, climate action, and urban measures	10 11 13
Evaluating health impacts of low-carbon mobility scenarios in cities	24
Integrating transport and health models: A cross-sectoral approach Comparing low-carbon mobility pathways: Current versus High Ambition scenarios A future limited by our ambition, not by financial capacities	24 30 35
Towards a healthy low-carbon future	38
References	44
Annex A. Composition of the ITF policy scenarios	54
Annex B. Selected global models interlinking urban mobility and health	55
Annex C. List of Workshop participants	57

Figures

Figure 1. Relationship between urban transport and health	5
Figure 2. Using models for evidence-based policy making	13
Figure 3. Transport decarbonisation measures that impact health outcomes in urban areas	14
Figure 4. Mexico City Ciclovía Recreativa (2020)	16
Figure 5. Cheonggyecheon Stream (2017)	17
Figure 6. Carsharing decreasing the need for private vehicles in Flanders, Belgium	18
Figure 7. Characteristics of the ITF Global Urban Passenger model	25
Figure 8. Structure of the ITF Global Urban Passenger Transport model	26
Figure 9. SPHeP-NCD Modelling Framework	27

29
31
32
33
34
35
36
to 37

Tables

Table 1. Transport infrastructure enhancement measures	15
Table 2. Transport service improvement measures	19
Table 3. Regulatory interventions	20
Table 4. Complementary urban enhancement measures	22

Boxes

Box 1. Pro-cycling societies	7
Box 2. Open Streets initiatives	15
Box 3. Urban stream restoration encouraging public transport: Cheonggyecheon, Seoul	17
Box 4. Bike-sharing systems in New York and Paris	20
Box 5. Greener urban development in Eskişehir, Turkey	21
Box 6. The 15-minute city, adopted by Paris and Melbourne	22
Box 7. The ITF Global Urban Passenger model	25
Box 8. The OECD model for Strategic Public Health Planning for Non-communicable Diseases	27

Executive summary

Key messages

Low-carbon mobility is healthy and cost-effective

Transitioning to low-carbon transport reduces greenhouse gas emissions and also significantly improves public health, for example, by encouraging active mobility and lowering air pollution levels. These improvements contribute to decreased health-care expenditures, with the potential to balance investment costs in the long run.

Urgent need for integrated, cross-sectoral policies

Health and transport sectors need more integrated strategies to support healthier, low-carbon urban mobility solutions. Coordinated actions can achieve better health outcomes while meeting climate targets.

Equity and inclusion cannot be an afterthought for healthy mobility planning

Vulnerable groups, including women, older adults, and low-income households often experience higher exposure to urban health risks and barriers to mobility. Addressing these disparities is critical to creating healthy, inclusive, liveable, low-carbon cities.

Main findings

Transport activity is a leading source of air pollution in most urban environments, contributing significantly to poor health outcomes such as respiratory diseases and premature deaths. Fine particulate matter (PM2.5) and nitrogen dioxide (NO₂) from vehicles are primary pollutants exacerbating chronic health conditions, especially in densely populated urban areas. The most vulnerable, including children, the elderly, and low-income communities, are often disproportionately impacted. Transport and health cross-sectoral modelling underscores the severe health risks associated with current urban transport systems and highlights the potential for more holistic policy evaluation that includes both emissions and health outcomes. This integrated approach reveals that ambitious transport policies could significantly enhance public health by reducing pollutant emissions and promoting active mobility, thereby addressing both climate targets and health goals simultaneously.

The current reliance on motorised transport based on internal combustion engine technologies continues to generate soaring greenhouse gas emissions, undermining efforts to combat climate change. In parallel, transport-related health costs are rising, with increasing evidence linking traffic emissions to long-term health issues like asthma, heart disease, dementia and stroke. Urban mobility systems dominated by private vehicles also lead to sedentary lifestyles, contributing to the rise of non-communicable diseases such as diabetes, chronic kidney disease and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. However, the High Ambition scenario defined in this study, envisions a future where proactive policies are implemented to significantly decarbonise the transport sector, producing significant health benefits. An estimated 13 trillion life years are saved between 2022 and 2050, and 21.5 trillion Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALYs) saved, for OECD countries, the People's Republic of China, India and major countries in Latin American and the Caribbeans. Putting this into perspective, 13 trillion life years saved is equivalent to creating 130 billion centenarians over this period, approximately 4.5 billion centenarians per year. This figure is roughly equivalent to the combined populations (relevant to 2024) of China, India, the European Union, and the

United States living to 100 years old annually. The 21.5 trillion DALYs saved represents not only an increase in lifespan but also significant improvements in quality of life, reducing the years people would otherwise live with chronic diseases or disabilities.

These analogies highlight the profound human impact of ambitious low-carbon transport policies. A key insight is that the High Ambition scenario not only generates significant health benefits but also leads to substantial cost savings, with the potential to balance investments required for sustainable transport infrastructure in the long run. The projected savings in public health spending are estimated at approximately USD 875 billion annually, with the largest reductions seen in regions experiencing the most pronounced health improvements. These savings amount to between 0.1% and 2.0% of health-care expenditure under the Current Ambition scenario. In addition to the direct health cost savings, the High Ambition scenario delivers productivity gains equivalent to 860 000 Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) years, valued at almost USD 22 billion annually, comparable to the economic burden of air pollution-related premature deaths in New Delhi. The combined savings in health care and the increased workforce capacity demonstrate that investments in low-carbon mobility measures can be economically self-sustaining and may free budget for other public actions, disproving concerns about the high costs of sustainable transport transitions.

The findings also indicate significant regional disparities in health outcomes, driven by differences in urban density, economic development, and the pace of technological adoption. High-income regions are expected to see the greatest improvements in air quality and health due to strong vehicle electrification efforts. While electrification offers substantial benefits in reducing tailpipe emissions, it is important to note that it does not address non-exhaust emissions from braking and tyres, which are already significant and may even increase with heavier electric vehicles. Considering these factors could moderate some of the health benefits suggested by the modelling exercise.

Conversely, lower-income regions may struggle with persistent high pollutant levels due to the slower uptake of cleaner technologies and continued reliance on older, more polluting vehicles. However, this challenge also indicates a substantial opportunity to address inequitable health issues: low-and middle-income countries (LMICs) bear a disproportionate burden of noncommunicable diseases (NCDs), which are exacerbated by air pollution and inadequate mobility systems. These disparities underline the need for region-specific strategies and the importance of equity in urban transport planning for addressing context-specific challenges.

Finally, the study highlights the importance of promoting active mobility as a key component of healthier urban transport systems. While the High Ambition scenario shows an overall increase in active mobility, especially cycling, it also reveals that the benefits of active transport can vary significantly depending on local policies and infrastructure. For example, in China, urban densification and a focus on public transport have reduced walking by decreasing average trip distances and providing alternatives to trips previously made only with active modes. This suggests that while active mobility is crucial for improving public health, its promotion must be carefully tailored to the specific urban context to maximise benefits.

Top recommendations

Integrate health outcomes into urban policy planning to create healthier and sustainable cities

Policymakers must prioritise health as a key objective in urban transport policies. By evaluating the health impacts of all infrastructure projects, policymakers can address pressing public health issues such as air pollution, physical inactivity, chronic diseases, and road safety. Health Impact Assessments (HIA) should

be conducted to understand the long-term effects of transportation systems on health and well-being. Health metrics must be integrated into planning and decision-making processes, using health outcomes as a benchmark for project success. This will help prevent diseases, reduce healthcare costs, and improve quality of life for urban populations.

Invest in active and public transport infrastructure to reduce emissions and improve health

Governments should significantly invest in safe, comfortable and accessible infrastructure for walking, cycling, and other forms of active transport, while also improving and expanding public transport services. This includes the expansion of protected bike lanes, well-maintained pedestrian pathways, designated carfree zones, and enhanced public transport networks in urban areas. Reliable, frequent, and affordable public transport is essential to complement active transport modes and reduce dependency on private vehicles. By creating safe and convenient alternatives to car use, cities can promote physical activity, reduce greenhouse gas emissions, improve air quality, and make streets safer for all users. Ensuring connectivity between public transport networks and active mobility routes further enhances the effectiveness of this approach. Investment in both active and public transport infrastructure should be paired with public campaigns to promote their use, fostering a shift away from car dependency.

Strengthen cross-sector collaboration for healthier cities

Collaboration between health, environment, urban planning, and transport sectors is crucial to creating healthier cities. Policymakers should establish cross-sectoral governance structures, such as the role of Healthy City Managers, to bridge sectoral knowledge gaps and encourage the integration of health into sustainable urban mobility plans and their equivalent. These actions would ensure that public health considerations are integrated into urban planning and transportation decisions. Regular cross-sectoral communication will improve the implementation of transport policies that support physical activity, reduce air pollution, and foster mental well-being. Involving research institutions and academia in these collaborations can provide evidence-based insights, ensuring that policy decisions are well-informed.

Adopt equitable urban planning approaches for more inclusive urban policy

Equity must be a cornerstone of urban planning, including urban transport planning. It is critical to ensure that all citizens, especially women and vulnerable groups such as low-income communities, persons with disabilities, and children, benefit from air quality improvements and measures that improve health outcomes. Citizen participation in urban planning should be inclusive and representative, considering the needs of all socio-economic groups. This can be achieved by creating platforms for diverse voices to be heard and by proactively engaging underrepresented groups and communities in consultations. Equitable urban planning will help address social inequalities while improving access to healthy environments for all.

Build capacity in public authorities for evidence-based decision-making

Cities can better plan for future growth, manage public health challenges, and create sustainable, livable environments for residents by embedding data-driven approaches into urban policy frameworks. It is critical to focus on building the capacity of public authorities to use evidence-based models for decision-making. This includes training and collaboration with research institutions and academia to better understand and use transport, health, and environmental models. These models can quantify the economic, social, and environmental impacts of urban policies, helping policymakers to make informed decisions. Effective use of these tools can also aid in monitoring the success of implemented policies over time.

Interconnectedness of transport, climate, and health

Cities are complex systems of built-infrastructure, human interactions and economic activities. At the start of the 20th century, only about 10% of the world's population lived in urban areas (Westenhöfer et al., 2023). By 2021, this percentage had increased to 56% and is predicted to reach 68% by 2050 (UN Habitat, 2022), with nearly 90% of this growth occurring in Asia and Africa (Cheshmehzangi and Butters, 2022; UN Habitat, 2022). This rapid growth in urban population and the interconnectedness of transport, climate and health makes achieving low-carbon transport goals a complex task. Vehicle-focused policies alone may inadvertently worsen health outcomes unless complemented by measures to address non-exhaust emissions and promote sustainable urban mobility systems.

Over the past two decades, research has increasingly highlighted the diverse health impacts of transport policy decisions, reinforcing environmental arguments, clarifying the costs and benefits, and emphasising health equity issues (Dora and Racioppi, 2003). Given the complex intersection of transport and health within urban planning, the challenges are multi-dimensional, interconnected and interdependent (Glazener et al., 2021). Therefore, it is fundamental to develop a holistic and systemic approach to gain a more accurate understanding of the situation and to better comprehend the diversity of solutions and potential impacts, in turn enabling informed policy decisions and appropriate allocation of investments.

Transport is a major contributor to greenhouse gas emissions and significantly impacts public health, especially in cities (Khreis, May and Nieuwenhuijsen, 2017). In 2019, nearly the entire global population resided in areas failing to meet the World Health Organization (WHO) air quality guidelines. Outdoor air pollution, primarily from transport and other sectors, was responsible for an estimated 4.2 million premature deaths worldwide in the same year, posing significant challenges, especially in urban environments (WHO, 2022). At the same time, transport plays a central role in enabling full participation in society and ensuring access to labour, social activities, leisure opportunities, health care, and other essential services (ITF, 2023b).

Rising travel demand and inadequate public transport systems that fail to keep pace with urban expansion are likely to contribute to higher emissions from vehicles, particularly in regions where low-quality fuels and older vehicles are prevalent. However, in cities with lower income levels, transport may not be the primary source of air pollution; emissions often stem from stationary sources such as industry, home cooking, and heating. Over time, as incomes rise and emissions from stationary sources decline, mobile sources may account for a growing share of urban air pollution, highlighting the need for targeted interventions across multiple sectors. Consequently, the insufficiency and poor quality of public transport alternatives contributes to the ongoing trend of mass motorisation, characterised by growing dependence on motor vehicles (Khreis, May and Nieuwenhuijsen, 2017). This results in escalating traffic volumes, higher road crash rates, and elevated pollution levels, physical inactivity, increasing chronic diseases and death risks, representing significant societal costs (ITF, 2022b; Leroutier and Quirion, 2023; Thondoo et al., 2023).

It is also important to consider that air pollution does not solely originate from exhaust emissions due to incomplete fuel combustion. Non-exhaust emissions, such as fine particulate matter (PM2.5 and smaller) generated from tyre and brake wear, are a significant and often unregulated source of urban air pollution (Fussell et al., 2022). As regulations drive down exhaust emissions, non-exhaust sources may become an increasingly dominant contributor to poor air quality. Moreover, vehicle electrification, while beneficial for

reducing tailpipe emissions, does not eliminate these pollutants and may even exacerbate them due to the heavier weight of electric vehicles (Lopez et al., 2023; Zhang et al., 2024).

The urban environment greatly affects individual well-being, including physical and mental health, happiness, and socio-cultural life (Smit et al., 2011; Tokay Argan, 2016). Thus, urban and transport planning are essential for ensuring sustainable transportation options that reduce air and noise pollution and combat heat island effects (Whitmee et al., 2024). This involves promoting active mobility, public transport availability and use, green spaces, increased physical activity, and safety while discouraging car use (Tran, 2016; Nieuwenhuijsen, 2020; Glazener et al., 2021; ITF, 2023b). The goal is to create healthier cities for all residents, recognising that urban transport planning significantly impacts public health (Figure 1).





Source: Adapted from Glazener et al. (2021).

The notion of co-benefits between sectoral policies

Many measures aimed at improving urban environments, encouraging active mobility, and increasing public transport efficiency and coverage, do not explicitly prioritise or even mention health impacts as their main objective. However, these measures frequently impact significantly upon health and quality of life (ITF, 2013, 2023b; Karlsson, Westling and Lindgren, 2023). In recent years, policymakers have increasingly considered the health effects of transport and urban policies as standalone objectives to improve. Often, these considerations remain limited to risk evaluations of transport and urban projects, rather than effectively and directly addressing the challenge of urban pollution and prioritising health as a primary objective (Khreis, May and Nieuwenhuijsen, 2017).

When health considerations are explicitly included as objectives in measures and policies, it enables the evaluation and measurement of health impacts. Highlighting the co-benefits of their inclusion in cross-sectoral policy making can also support the complex decision-making process and prioritisation of budget allocation, making the process more effective and efficient by addressing multiple issues through a single effort. In optimal modelling scenarios, integrating health impacts in policy making decisions has the potential to save lives and costs by preventing premature mortality, chronic pulmonary diseases, cardiovascular diseases and reducing road crashes accidents – and improve lives through increased physical activity and improved mental health. (ITF, 2013; ITF, 2023b; Khreis, May and Nieuwenhuijsen, 2017; Karlsson, Westling and Lindgren, 2023).

Health implications of low-carbon urban mobility

Low-carbon urban mobility is increasingly recognised for its significant impact on public health. This section explores how sustainable transport modes, such as walking, cycling, and public transport, contribute to healthier urban environments and the broader role that urban planning plays in creating environments that support both health and sustainability. Policies that promote active mobility and reduce reliance on private cars can address goals such as increasing physical activity, lowering air pollution, reducing trafficrelated injuries, and ultimately enhancing well-being.

Linking health outcomes, active mobility and public transport

Walking and cycling have become increasingly recognised as solutions to improve both health and the urban environment (Glazener et al., 2021; ITF, 2023b). The benefits of physical activity far surpass the risks associated with air pollution and traffic incidents, except in rare cases of very high pollution levels (Clockston and Rojas-Rueda, 2021; ITF, 2023b).

Physical inactivity causes premature deaths and increases the risk of diabetes, heart diseases, obesity, chronic kidney disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, cancer, and mental health issues, resulting in substantial health-care costs (Cao et al., 2022; ITF, 2023b; Mueller et al., 2017; Thondoo et al., 2023; WHO, 2019). Insufficiently active people have a 20% to 30% higher risk of premature death than sufficiently active people (WHO, 2024). The WHO recommends at least 150 minutes of moderate or 75 minutes of vigorous activity weekly for all adults. Nearly one-third of adults and 80% of adolescents do not meet these recommendations (Strain et al., 2024; WHO, 2024). Promoting active mobility and public transport usage is essential to combat sedentary lifestyles and its detrimental effects. Proper infrastructure, network continuity, and improving safety are pivotal to this happening.

Several policies have been successful in encouraging more active mobility in urban environments. Below are some examples:

- The integration of several, if not most public transport services, including bike-sharing systems, facilitates multimodality trips and expands mobility options. In Seoul, Korea, the Climate Ticket allows users to access both public transport and an extensive bike-sharing system (ITF, 2024; Kosmidis and Müller-Eie, 2024; Seoul Metropolitan Government, n.d.).
- Bike parking facilities, especially near public transport stops or stations, facilitate combining public transport and cycling with private bikes. In Denmark, a model showed that adding 100 bike parking spots increases the probability of cycling by about 2.5% (Halldórsdóttir, Nielsen and Prato, 2017; Kosmidis and Müller-Eie, 2024).
- Allowing bikes on public transport supports intermodal trips. In Vienna, Austria, all bikes are permitted on subways and city trains, but only folded bicycles are allowed on buses and trams (Wien, n.d.). Despite these limitations due to safety and space concerns, such policies enable cyclists to extend their reach by combining cycling with public transport.

In several cities, the Covid-19 pandemic has accelerated the shift from car-centric paradigms to prioritising active mobility (Nieuwenhuijsen, 2021; Ohlund et al., 2022; ITF, 2023a, 2023b). During the pandemic, walking and cycling were essential for ensuring people's everyday mobility and had the benefit of maintaining or increasing physical activity levels while maintaining social distancing. Cities like Paris and London saw an increase in bike and e-scooter ridership and expanded cycling infrastructures and slow-speed zones. Similarly, cities like Washington DC and Portland implemented lower speed limits in certain areas, making streets safer for cyclists and pedestrians (Ohlund et al., 2022; ITF, 2023a, 2023b).

Box 1. Pro-cycling societies

In several countries such as the Netherlands and Denmark, urban policymakers have implemented procycling policies to encourage cycling at the local and regional levels, resulting in relatively high modal shares of active mobility. These efforts prioritised safety and convenience through the development of pro-cycling infrastructure and regulatory decision-making. Additionally, restrictive policies have been implemented to discourage car use by making it less convenient, particularly in city centres (Pucher and Buehler, 2008).

The Netherlands features over 38 000 km of cycle paths strictly reserved for bikes. Bicycles make up 28% of all trips and 55% of trips under 5 km. Between 2005 and 2016, bike usage increased by 12%. By 2022, 72% of the surveyed residents considered cycling a relaxing activity and associated it with improved health (Fishman et al., 2015; Harms and Maarten, 2018; de Haas and Kolkowski, 2023).

Denmark has more than 12 000 km of cycle paths. Cycling constitutes 21% of trips under 10 km and 15% of all trips. In Copenhagen, cyclists take 1.1 million fewer sick days each year than residents who don't cycle. Each kilometre cycled rather than driven generates EUR 1 in health benefits. Overall, cycling reduces national CO_2 emissions by about 20 000 tonnes annually (Cycling Embassy of Denmark, 2020).

Promoting active mobility and public transport usage while discouraging private motorised vehicle usage benefits the environment by reducing carbon emissions, local air pollution, and traffic noise. However, this requires combining multiple policy strategies aimed at promoting public transport and active modes, along with urban planning policies, to increase mobility access for all and create a healthier and more pleasant urban environment (Nieuwenhuijsen, 2020). Shifting policy focus from cars to public transport and active mobility can also free up spaces for safer walking and cycling (ITF, 2023b). This also enables leisure activities, strengthens social cohesion and generates a virtuous circle that makes urban life healthier, more environmentally friendly, and cities more closely aligned with climate goals (Nieuwenhuijsen, 2020; Ohlund et al., 2022; Chatziioannou et al., 2023).

It is important to recognise, however, that calls for increased walking and cycling are not uniformly applicable or appropriate across all global settings (ITF, 2023b). In regions where walking and cycling are inherently dangerous or poorly adapted to the urban scale, encouraging their uptake without implementing significant infrastructure and policy changes may achieve limited results. Moreover, for individuals walking or cycling primarily due to poverty, reducing reliance on these modes and increasing access to safer, more efficient transport options might lead to greater overall benefits. Such benefits include improved access to employment opportunities, education, healthcare, and essential services, as well as the ability to fully participate in social interactions, leisure activities, and community life. Enhanced transport options can also lead to time savings, greater comfort, and improved safety, particularly for vulnerable groups. Finally, the health advantages of active mobility are strongly correlated with baseline levels of physical activity. Marginal benefits are much greater in contexts where physical activity is low, highlighting the need for regionally tailored approaches to active mobility that consider local conditions and the diversity of user needs.

Re-thinking car-centric urban development for healthier cities

For decades, car-centric policies and their widespread adoption have physically transformed cities and how people engage in urban activities and spaces. These policies have facilitated travel over greater distances and contributed to the expansion of cities and urban sprawl. During this period, in many cities, owning cars became essential for residents to fully participate in society and access employment, social interactions, leisure activities, and other necessities (Khreis, May and Nieuwenhuijsen, 2017; ITF, 2023a).

In these car-dominated urban areas, pedestrians and cyclists typically experience more collisions with motor vehicles compared to pedestrians and cyclists in areas with fewer cars. In 2021, 1.2 million people died in road crashes globally, with 56% of these deaths being vulnerable road users, such as cyclists and pedestrians and 92% of these deaths occurred in low- and middle-income countries (WHO, n.d.a). In 2023, 1 635 deaths in EU cities resulted from collisions between cars and pedestrians, and 404 from collisions between cyclists and cars, compared to 581 fatal collisions between cars themselves (ITF, 2023b). According to the WHO (2023a), road traffic injuries are the leading cause of death for children and young adults aged 5–29 years.

Moving cities to prioritise active mobility and public transport requires shifting away from the dominant car-centric model of urban development. Such a transition in rethinking urban spaces is challenging and should be done gradually, with health and environment placed at the top of political agendas (ITF, 2023a; Thondoo et al., 2023). Additionally, a people-centric approach should be adopted, addressing concerns from various stakeholders (e.g., contextual, physical, aspirations, fear), ensuring mobility solutions meet diverse needs by transitioning from a segregated-use to a mixed-use model of public spaces with multimodal possibilities (Mehaffy et al., 2022; Chatziioannou et al., 2023; ITF, 2023a).

Enhancing health through sustainable urban design and increased proximity

Urban planning can reduce pollution by incorporating measures such as increasing green spaces (parks, gardens, and tree-lined areas that improve air quality and provide shade) and blue spaces (water bodies like rivers, lakes, and urban wetlands that help regulate temperature and manage stormwater). Additionally, urban planning can promote proximity to key destinations such as workplaces, schools, healthcare facilities, shops, and recreational areas through densification (concentrating development to reduce the need for long commutes) and mixed-land use (integrating residential, commercial, and recreational spaces within closer distances). These strategies create healthier urban environments, lower pollution levels, and enhance liveability.

Access to green spaces and overall greener environments in urban areas undeniably improves mental and physical health (de Vries et al., 2003; Markevych et al., 2017). Studies suggest that a 10% increase in green space correlates with a reduction in health symptoms equivalent to a five-year decrease in age, assuming a causal link (de Vries et al., 2003; Hunter et al., 2023). Although green spaces are known to benefit health, the optimal amount, location, and type are still uncertain. In addition, the benefits of green spaces are not evenly distributed across the city, and the quality of green spaces depends on the existing biodiversity (Hunter et al., 2023).

Densification, supported by measures and intervention to integrate multi-purpose land uses and reduce distances, promotes closer proximity. This approach encourages active mobility, reduces reliance on motor vehicles, and improves overall health (Smit et al., 2011; Pojani and Stead, 2015; Gil Solá and Vilhelmson, 2022). As part of this paradigm, Transit-Oriented Development (TOD) is an urban model that emphasises densifying cities through strategic land use and transport planning, and decision-making favouring connections to, and use of, public transport. By doing so, cities become more accessible, resilient, and less dependent on cars (Chatziioannou et al., 2023). For proximity to be effective, a range of essential services must be available to all urban residents within a close radius (OECD, 2021).

Dense and compact urban spaces often face challenges such as higher housing prices, congestion, air pollution, loss of privacy, and noise, resulting in some people favouring less dense urban areas (Zumelzu and Herrmann-Lunecke, 2021). Thus, high urban density delivers the most benefits when paired with highquality urban design strategies and community participation (Lehmann, 2016). This means that high urban density policies should also be combined with measures to reduce car usage, facilitate public transport and access by active travel, and to increase recreational and green spaces as evenly as possible (Lehmann, 2016; Cheshmehzangi and Butters, 2022; Gil Solá and Vilhelmson, 2022). Optimal density levels vary across urban and cultural contexts: density must be monitored to avoid the potentially detrimental effects of excessive densification (Lehmann, 2016).

Evidence-based measures for promoting well-being through low-carbon mobility

Integrating robust evidence into urban planning and design is critical for tackling emissions from road transport, particularly private vehicles, while also promoting public health. However, improving urban well-being involves more than reducing transport-related CO_2 emissions; it requires a systematic approach that considers co-benefits and examines the interconnectedness of multiple factors influencing urban liveability. Research increasingly shows how land use, transport mode prioritisation, and environmental exposures, such as air pollution and noise, affect public health (Dyer et al., 2024). However, this knowledge is rarely incorporated into climate and transport policies, and public awareness of these issues remains limited (Khreis, May and Nieuwenhuijsen, 2017).

Policies that encourage physical activity, such as safe walking and cycling infrastructures, slow-speed zones, and reliable public transport, offer multiple benefits. They reduce pollution and CO_2 emissions, stress factors, and traffic risks, creating a healthier environment. Decision-making criteria that consider these co-benefits can strengthen the evidence base, reduce uncertainty, and better balance the costs and benefits of urban transport strategies (Karlsson, Westling and Lindgren, 2023).

Directly linking health outcomes to environmental factors like pollution can be challenging. This is due to the sensitive nature of health data and the influence of various factors, such as travel conditions and lifestyles. However, developing a body of evidence that connects policy, environmental, economic, and social factors to health outcomes is essential for informing evidence-based policymaking, prioritising interventions with the highest health benefits, and fostering cross-sectoral collaboration to address complex urban challenges. Given the wide variability in environmental exposures such as air pollution, noise, temperature, and green space across cities, collecting relevant data at multiple scales is key to building localised evidence that can inform targeted, effective policy making.

Challenges in data collection and capacity building for evidence-based policy making

Good decision-making relies on accurate information, which requires the collection of relevant datasets. Data may take multiple shapes: quantitative (e.g. big data from sensors, surveys) or qualitative (e.g. interviews), spatial or temporal, real-time or historical, among other types. Quality and scale differ. The evolving role of data in policy making highlights the need for rigorous data management, quality assessment, and privacy preservation to maintain the integrity of decision-making processes. Developing a standardised data catalogue ensures comparability and accurate measurement.

Policymakers often face challenges in collecting high-quality data, determining what to collect and how, analysing diverse data sources, interpreting results accurately, and ensuring comparability and generalisability (Ramirez-Rubio et al., 2019; Le and Poom, 2024). By using models adapted to their needs, urban authorities can be guided in collecting relevant datasets. However, it may require specific technical skills such as programming (e.g. cleaning datasets, data management) and big data handling, data analysing (e.g. understanding statistical significance), which are areas where additional training and capacity building may be beneficial for municipal employees (Le and Poom, 2024).

Adequate resources should be allocated to capacity building, fostering a data-driven culture within urban authorities and developing long-term urban and transport strategies. Academia can serve as a key partner, advancing data literacy and assisting policymakers with dataset analysis to support the creation of evidence-based policies.

Maximising data resources for better urban planning

In resource-rich environments, the availability of abundant, high-quality quantitative as well as qualitative data can lead to better-informed decisions. Strengthening public sector capacities is crucial for improving decision-making processes. Implementing cost-effective data collection methods can keep costs low, reduce reliance on private consultants, and maintain continuity of vision. It is also important to expand data collection beyond the transport sector to better understand urban complexity and the interplay of various factors influencing mobility and well-being.

Policymakers should also regularly review and enhance the data collection process. Establishing a performance management framework tailored to the local context will enable the integration of data into decision-making processes and allow for ongoing evaluations of the effectiveness of interventions and policies (Vandervalk, 2012). This will ensure that urban mobility strategies remain adaptable, data-driven, and responsive to changing needs (ITF, 2022a).

Leveraging models for strategic policy making

Models serve as simplified representations of real-world systems, highlighting the relationships between various factors. They can show how changes in one variable (e.g., an increase in air pollution) affect another (e.g., public health outcomes). By offering insights into these connections, models enable the design of more effective, adaptive, equitable policies. This systematic approach allows policymakers to evaluate the economic, environmental, health, and social impacts of different actions, making it possible to integrate these factors across sectors.

Developed by academic institutions, researchers, and public agencies, models offer valuable tools for quantifying, comparing, and evaluating the impacts of policies, scenarios, and interventions, including their distributive impacts. When assessing health impacts, models can be used for scenario analysis, predictions, health risk assessments, and cost-effectiveness evaluations. They quantify both tangible effects, such as reductions in hospital admissions or premature deaths, and intangible effects, such as Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALYs), the burden of diseases or economic losses, making health outcomes more concrete and easier to compare (Tran, 2016; Ramirez-Rubio et al., 2019). They can help prioritise interventions by identifying those that deliver the greatest benefits relative to their costs.

When used ethically and transparently, models also strengthen the legitimacy of decision-making. By clearly outlining potential risks and outcomes, they help build public trust and acceptance of policies (Human Impact Partners, 2011). Continuous improvements in risk assessment and modelling processes allow researchers to offer refined recommendations. By incorporating these models into comprehensive transport assessments, policymakers can make better-informed decisions that anticipate consequences, mitigate negative impacts, and optimise positive outcomes, ultimately improving health and resource allocation (Kahlmeier et al., 2023).

What is required to effectively use models?

Using models effectively in policy making requires careful consideration of several key factors. Models differ in assumptions, methodologies, datasets, and objectives, from risk estimation to scenario analysis and trend prediction. They also differ in the costs to develop and maintain them, including the cost of attracting and retaining skilled staff. Policymakers must select the most appropriate model based on their specific goals and ensure they meet essential criteria such as reliability, transparency, and comprehensive documentation. It is also important to understand a model's limitations, as no model accounts for all factors.

High-quality data is critical to a model's accuracy, and collecting or processing reliable data is essential. Models may sometimes be chosen based on existing datasets to minimise costs, but this requires access to sufficient, relevant data. Data validation and standardised collection methods further ensure consistency and comparability.

Collaboration with other public agencies, private entities, or NGOs can provide additional datasets and enhance the model's accuracy. Building the necessary skills for data management within public authorities, through training and funding, is vital for long-term success. Developing the skills needed for data collection and management is another essential factor. Public authorities may need to invest in specific training to ensure employees can handle complex data tasks, which requires adequate funding. Without these investments, maintaining data quality over time can be difficult.

Consistency in model usage is also key. Once a model has been used, it should continue to be applied consistently across different areas and times to track progress and evaluate the effectiveness of policies. Regular monitoring allows for timely adjustments to strategies. Although models may need to be adapted over time, these changes should not undermine consistency in the evaluation process.

Cross-agency co-operation is often necessary for managing and sharing data. Clear roles and responsibilities, overseen by a lead agency, can prevent complications and improve co-ordination. Finally, securing continuous funding for data collection, equipment, and skilled personnel is essential for maintaining the quality and reliability of evaluations, ultimately leading to more informed, evidence-based policy decisions.



Figure 2. Using models for evidence-based policy making

Transport, health, climate action, and urban measures

Transport-related policy can be implemented that contributes to healthier urban environments by either increasing physical activity or reducing air and noise pollution, directly or indirectly. Expanding bicycle and pedestrian networks, optimising public transport, managing speed, and developing shared-mobility options encourage more active lifestyles, leading to better physical health and reduced risks of chronic diseases. Meanwhile, vehicle-restriction schemes, slow-speed zones, land-use policies, and teleworking can decrease reliance on cars, cutting down on emissions that contribute to respiratory issues and other health problems. Finally, increasing green spaces not only provides more areas for physical activity but also improves mental health by providing cleaner air and more recreational areas.

These measures also hold positive implications for freight transport in cities. Restricting private vehicle use and optimising road space can improve the efficiency of urban logistics by reducing congestion, enabling faster and more reliable deliveries. Additionally, policies that promote clean vehicle technologies and designate low-emission zones can incentivise the adoption of electric or alternative fuel freight vehicles, further cutting down pollutants. Together, these strategies improve public health outcomes while fostering sustainable urban living.

The ITF Global Urban Passenger model assesses several measures to reduce CO_2 emissions from the urban transport sector. Out of these, thirteen measures, listed in Figure 3, have a significant impact on health outcomes, beyond the reduction in emissions. Each measure is explained below with details on its health impacts, associated costs, and relevant notes or examples.

Transport infrastructure enhancements	Transport service improvements	Regulatory interventions	Complementary urban enhancements
 The expansion of bicycle and pedestrian networks The development and expansion of public transport systems, and express lanes for buses 	 Public transport service optimisation Shared-mobility incentives Carpooling policies Support for Mobility as a Service 	 Urban vehicle- restriction schemes Speed management Parking restrictions Urban vehicle- restriction schemes 	 Multiplying green spaces Teleworking Land-use policies and transit-oriented development

Figure 3. Transport decarbonisation measures that impact health outcomes in urban areas

Source: Adapted from ITF (2023c).

The ITF Global Urban Passenger model includes other measures that are not listed here as they do not directly relate to health impacts. These economic instruments including carbon pricing, road pricing and parking pricing are gradually set up or enhanced worldwide.

Category 1: Transport infrastructure enhancements

Transport infrastructure improvements, such as expanding bicycle and pedestrian networks and promoting carpooling, have significant potential to enhance public health by encouraging active modes of transport and reducing vehicular emissions. By reallocating urban spaces to favour walking and cycling over car use, cities can create environments that promote physical activity, helping to mitigate risks associated with chronic diseases like obesity, heart disease and premature death (Mueller et al., 2018). These measures also improve air quality by reducing the number of vehicles on the road, leading to decreased exposure to harmful pollutants (Chatziioannou et al., 2023; Mehaffy et al., 2022). Expanding public transport networks not only lowers emissions by reducing private vehicle use but also promotes walking, as people tend to walk more when using buses, trams, or trains. This helps improve cardiovascular health and air quality (ITF, 2023b; Moreno and de Miguel, 2018). Additionally, reducing the number of motorised vehicles on the road, including cars and goods vehicles, enhances safety for vulnerable road users such as cyclists and pedestrians, contributing to fewer fatal and serious incidents.

Measure	Description	Health impacts	Costs	Notes/Examples
Expansion of bicycle and pedestrian networks	Reallocate or create urban spaces for walking and cycling infrastructure (e.g. bike lanes, bike parking, walkways).	Increased physical activity, improved air quality, reduced chronic disease risk, reduced premature deaths and improved mental health.	Low – Involves constructing segregated lanes, bike racks, and walkways.	Encouraging active transport has positive health outcomes. Initiatives like Barcelona's superblock model promotes cycling and walking (Mehaffy et al., 2022; Chatziioannou et al., 2023).
Development and expansion of public transport systems, and express lanes for buses	Build and improve public transport systems (e.g. metro, buses), including express lanes for buses.	Reduces use of cars, increases walking, and decreases emissions. May lead to increased exposure to suspended particulate matter inside of vehicles and stations compared to private car use.	High – Includes land acquisition, construction, and operational costs.	In Seoul, installing air purifiers on metro platforms reduced pollutant levels, improving public health (Moreno and de Miguel, 2018).

Table 1. Trans	port infrastructu	ire enhanceme	nt measures
rabie al riarie			

Boxes 2 and 3 below, provide three examples of recent initiatives that show a commitment to improving well-being and quality of life by encouraging active and public transport use over private vehicles.

Box 2. Open Streets initiatives

In 2019, the Open Streets initiative, known as Ciclovía Recreativas, was implemented in 77 Latin American cities, involving the temporary repurposing of at least 1 km of urban roads into car-free spaces for several hours, typically once a week (Velázquez-Cortés et al., 2023).

Bogota is the most advanced city in implementing the Open Streets initiative. Every Sunday and public holiday from 7 am to 2 pm, 128 km of routes are closed to motorised vehicles. This initiative aims to create safe and accessible environments for recreational activities, walking and cycling, promoting active mobility and physical activity, and restoring the feeling that the city belongs to its citizens (Sánchez, n.d.; Pojani and Stead, 2015; Velázquez-Cortés et al., 2023).

Health impacts were measured for 15 out of 77 city initiatives. The results demonstrated that Open Streets initiatives effectively promote active mobility. Across the fifteen cities, the initiatives prevented an estimated 363 premature deaths per year by mostly promoting physical activity, which translates to an annual economic impact of USD 194.1 million (Velázquez-Cortés et al., 2023).



Source: Philippe Crist (2020)

Similar measures are gradually being adopted by some African cities. One of the most advanced examples is Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. There, since August 2023, twenty roads are exclusively open to pedestrians and cyclists monthly, and three roads every Sunday, totalling over 100 km of road (WRI Africa, 2023; Guerrero Casas and Kramer, 2024). So far it has been found to popularise cycling and influence new policies and implementations with an increase of bike lane and walkway infrastructures (WRI Africa, 2023).

In India, similar initiatives called "Happy Sundays", or "Happy Streets", have emerged in several major cities. However, these events often lack regularity, which partly explains their decline. They are often initiated by private partners like the national newspaper The Times of India, for promotional purposes (Vizianagaram, 2017; Times of India, n.d.). Lucknow, Bengaluru, and Pune hold Happy Streets events sporadically in specific neighbourhoods (Times of India, n.d.; Times of India, 2023). In Mumbai, initially, six and later nine streets were closed for a few hours every Sunday in 2022-23, as part of a police initiative. Due to inconsistent support from authorities, the street closures eventually ceased (Kotak, 2022; The Indian Express, 2022). These initiatives, while a positive step forward, are treated more as special events than regular occurrences, making them less remarkable than similar efforts in cities of Latin America.

Box 3. Urban stream restoration encouraging public transport: Cheonggyecheon, Seoul

Inspired by a small group of academics and environmentalists in the 1990s, the Seoul Metropolitan Government launched the Cheonggyecheon restoration project. This 5.86 km long and 16 m wide stream, covered by a road and elevated highway during Korea's industrialisation in the 1960s, was restored between 2003 and 2005 (Shin and Lee, 2006; Lee and Anderson, 2013; Kim and Jung, 2019). The project's political motivation was to transform Seoul into a symbol of environmental sustainability. It aimed to enhance liveability by improving air quality through shifting mode priorities and increasing green spaces (Lee and Anderson, 2013). Before restoration, over 168 000 vehicles passed daily, causing severe congestion and poor air quality, which contributed to health issues and a declining population in the area (Chung et al., 2012; Lee and Anderson, 2013). Nationwide health and nutrition examination surveys since 1998 have indicated that before the restoration residents near Cheonggyecheon were twice as likely to suffer from respiratory diseases compared to others in Seoul (Lee and Anderson, 2013; Oh et al., 2021).



Figure 5. Cheonggyecheon Stream (2017)

Today, Cheonggyecheon stretches along 6 km of stream within a 12.04 km trail, providing a pedestrianfriendly environment (Chung et al., 2012; Kim and Jung, 2019). The project's deconstruction of the highway disrupted travel patterns, necessitating a shift in travel behaviour to prevent severe traffic issues. The authorities proactively implemented side policies to help promote a modal shift towards more sustainable modes of transport in offering alternative travel options, such as new Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) corridors and metro lines serving the area (Chung et al., 2012). Pedestrian traffic significantly improved, and residents adapted to travel options, reducing traffic and pollution over time (Lee and Anderson, 2013). The health and nutrition examination surveys showed substantial health improvements, particularly in mental health (Kim and Jung, 2019). The Cheonggyecheon stream restoration successfully combined urban and transport planning, reducing local car traffic and improving

Source Philippe Crist (2017)

public transport. The restoration cost about USD 351 million, which over time was partially covered by increased tourism and urban development (Lee and Anderson, 2013). Gentrification was a noted side effect (Chung et al., 2012).

Category 2. Transport service improvements

Optimising public transport services and promoting shared-mobility options such as bike-sharing and carsharing can indirectly improve health by reducing car dependency and encouraging more active lifestyles. Shared-mobility incentives, like bike-sharing, provide an opportunity for individuals to incorporate physical activity into their daily routines. Box 4 illustrates how well-maintained and extensive bike-sharing systems in New York and Paris contribute to optimising urban space by promoting cycling over car use. In cities such as Brussels and Flanders (Figure 6), shared-mobility systems have successfully reduced the number of privately owned vehicles, leading to decreased congestion and pollution, thereby improving urban health outcomes (Autodelen.net, 2022). Carpooling policies can foster social interaction and community cohesion, which improves well-being and liveability (Aguiléra and Pigalle, 2021).



Figure 6. Carsharing decreasing the need for private vehicles in Flanders, Belgium

One shared car replaces 3.1 to 9.5 private cars, according to the type of car sharing.

Source: Autodelen.net (2022).

Islamabad's example of carpooling initiatives shows that wider adoption of carpooling can significantly cut vehicle numbers and associated emissions, leading to positive health and environmental outcomes (Haroon et al., 2024). Similarly, a study in 2012 in Montreal revealed that 88.1% of households participating in a carsharing organisation did not own a car, compared to only 34.2% of the general population (Kent, 2014; Sioui, Morency and Trépanier, 2013). However, these measures need to be complemented with broader policy frameworks to ensure long-term benefits.

Measure	Description	Health Impacts	Costs	Notes/Examples
Public transport service optimisation	Improve the frequency, reliability, and comfort of public transport without expanding infrastructure.	Reduces car use, which positively impacts health by lowering exposure to traffic-related air pollution, noise, and the risk of road accidents, while also promoting physical activity through active travel. However, a negative health impact remains from fine particulate matter exposure within public transport vehicles and stations, which can exacerbate respiratory and cardiovascular issues if not adequately mitigated.	Moderate – Based on service enhancements (e.g. fare systems, frequency increases).	Increasing travel speeds and integrating fare systems can raise public transport use and reduce car ownership by half a percentage point (ITF, 2023a).
Shared-mobility incentives (bike- sharing, carsharing)	Promote shared-mobility options to reduce private car ownership and encourage active modes like cycling.	Indirect health benefits through reduced traffic and improved air quality. Bike-sharing also promotes active transport.	Moderate – Costs for installation, maintenance, and public space use for bike-sharing systems.	Bike-sharing systems operate in over 1 500 cities globally, supporting first- and last-mile connectivity (Teixeira, Silva and Moura e Sá, 2023). In Flanders, households who use shared car services significantly decrease their car ownership and postpone future car purchases. (Autodelen.net, 2022).
Carpooling policies	Encourage shared vehicle use to reduce traffic and emissions.	Reduces pollution, improves social interaction, enhances overall well-being.	Low – for individuals, cost-sharing reduces expenses. For authorities, it lowers congestion.	Islamabad's carpooling policies could reduce car ownership by 33.6%, cutting CO ₂ emissions by over 411 035 tonnes annually (Haroon et al., 2024).

Table 2. Transport service improvement measures

Box 4. Bike-sharing systems in New York and Paris

A health impact analysis was conducted in New York City for 2020, and demonstrated that implementing a largely, well-maintained, and reliable bike-sharing service had positive health benefits. In 2020, with 19 000 bikes, an average of 1.7 million rides, and over 1 000 stations, estimates showed an annual reduction of two premature deaths, an increase of 355 life years (DALYs), and USD 15 million in health economic benefits, mostly due to increased physical activity (Clockston and Rojas-Rueda, 2021). By 2024, New York City had a total of 30 000 bikes, including e-bikes, and over 2 000 docking stations, with a record of over 4 million rides in August 2023 (Clockston and Rojas-Rueda, 2021; Citi Bike, 2023). Overall, well-maintained and sufficiently large bike-sharing systems encourage cycling as was demonstrated in the example of New York.

Vélib' Metropole in Paris has become increasingly popular. As of April 2024, it operates 1 481 stations across over 55 municipalities, covering nearly 400 square km with 19 184 bikes. The system has around 409 000 annual subscribers and records about 136 783 daily trips, representing a 9% increase compared to April 2023. Electric Vélibs bikes account for 68% of the distance travelled, as they are commonly used for longer trips, averaging up to twelve trips per day compared to seven for standard bike models. This growing adoption results from improved coverage and maintenance, which are essential for increasing bike-sharing adoption (Ivanovic, Wood and Purves, 2023; SAVM, 2024). Additionally, private dockless bike-sharing systems are in operation, expanding the bike-sharing options.

Category 3: Regulatory interventions

Regulatory interventions can play a pivotal role in promoting healthier, more liveable cities. Urban vehiclerestriction schemes are a key regulatory measure to improve health and liveability in cities. These schemes, such as low-emission and zero-emission zones, pedestrian-only zones, slow-speed zones and low-traffic neighbourhoods restrict access for high-emission vehicles, resulting in significant improvements in air quality and reductions in health risks related to respiratory issues. In Stockholm, for example, the implementation of a low-emission zone led to a 40% reduction in particulate matter, yielding substantial public health benefits (ADEME, 2020). While vehicle restrictions are effective in cutting emissions, they must be coupled with policies that promote active transport and affordable mobility alternatives to avoid equity issues and maximise health outcomes.

Measure	Description	Health Impacts	Costs	Notes/Examples
Urban vehicle- restriction schemes	Implement low-emission or zero-emission zones, pedestrian-only zones, low-speed zones, and low-traffic neighbourhoods, restricting vehicles that do not meet emission standards.	Improves air quality and promotes active transport modes (walking, cycling).	Varies – Dependent on signage, monitoring systems, and enforcement.	Stockholm's low-emission zones reduced NO ₂ by 10% and PM10 by 40%, significantly improving residents' health (ADEME, 2020). European cities often use these schemes to encourage newer, compliant vehicle purchases (ICCT, 2021).

Table 3. Regulatory interventions

Category 4: Complementary urban enhancements

Complementary urban enhancements play a crucial role in fostering healthier, more liveable cities. By rethinking how urban spaces are used and prioritising measures that promote well-being, cities can reduce emissions and improve quality of life for inhabitants. One key aspect of this approach is expanding green spaces in cities. Urban greening initiatives, such as creating parks, green corridors, and urban forests, enhance public health by improving air quality and encouraging physical activity. People are more likely to walk and engage in outdoor activities in greener, safer environments, which reduces the risk of chronic diseases and boosts mental health (Barron et al., 2019; Glazener et al., 2021). Beyond physical health benefits, these green areas provide spaces for social interaction and cultural activities, enhancing community well-being and reducing urban isolation (Lee, Jordan, and Horsley, 2015). Box 5 further shows how policies in Turkey helped to promote greener urban development through the rehabilitation of the Porsuk river, expansion of green spaces, and improvements in public transport, resulting in reduced air pollution, enhanced pedestrian and cycling infrastructure, and positive health outcomes.

Box 5. Greener urban development in Eskişehir, Turkey

For several decades, Eskişehir, Turkey, has experienced rapid urbanisation and industrialisation (Kacar and Alpan, 2018; Deliry and Uyguçgil, 2023). In 1999, an earthquake partially damaged the city, prompting the rehabilitation of 13 km of the polluted Porsuk river (Kacar and Alpan, 2018). The Eskisehir Greater Municipality, funded up to USD 159 000 000 by the European Investment Bank and the Nordic Investment Bank, initiated the Urban Development Project from 2001 to 2009 (UN Habitat, n.d.; Kacar and Alpan, 2018). This project established green corridors and open areas around the river, encouraging pedestrian and cycling. It also introduced a boat public transport service and the city's first tram network, with two main lines totalling 15 km in length, operational since 2004 (Kacar and Alpan, 2018).

As a result, green spaces increased by 26% from 2009 to 2012, reaching 9.07 square metres per person by July 2012, which helped reduce air and noise pollution and the urban heat island effect (lungman et al., 2023; Tuna, 2015). Years later, ongoing urbanisation has resulted in insufficient and inadequately distributed green spaces across neighbourhoods, a consequence of significant disparities in urban planning priorities and resource allocation (Deliry and Uyguçgil, 2023). Overall, this rehabilitation project has brought positive benefits, including attracting tourism and commercial activities (e.g. hotels, bars, restaurants, tourist attractions), on top of improving health, especially for those living or working near the green areas (Galvin and Maassen, 2019).

Another important component is teleworking, which reduces commuting stress, emissions, and traffic congestion. Although teleworking offers benefits like increased flexibility and better work-life balance, it also presents challenges such as the risk of isolation or overworking and an incentive to increase the distance between the workplace and place of dwelling. On a broader scale, however, the reduction in daily commuting generally leads to fewer road emissions and improved air quality, creating a healthier urban environment (Li, Liu and Long, 2023). It also offers economic advantages by cutting commuting costs and reducing the need for office spaces, benefiting both employers and employees.

Land-use policies and transit-oriented development (TOD) complement these efforts by shaping cities that prioritise active mobility and public transport. Compact, high-density urban areas with diverse land uses reduce transport demand, lower emissions, and encourage walking and cycling. Models like Barcelona's superblocks show how redesigning urban spaces can reduce reliance on cars and create more walkable, accessible, areas leading to improved public health (Mehdipanah et al., 2019; Nieuwenhuijsen et al., 2024).

Box 6 highlights how the 15-minute city concept, embraced by Paris and Melbourne, focuses on improving land-use efficiency by creating compact, mixed-use neighbourhoods where essential services are within walking or cycling distance, reducing the need for long commutes and optimising the use of urban space. By integrating green spaces, teleworking options, and TOD strategies, cities can create a holistic framework for enhancing sustainability and public health.

Measure	Description	Health Impacts	Costs	Notes/Examples
Multiplying green spaces	Develop green spaces such as parks, urban forests, and green corridors to improve air quality and recreational spaces.	Enhances mental health, encourages physical activity, and reduces pollution.	High – Creating and maintaining green spaces, especially in urban areas, can be expensive.	Green spaces promote social interaction and reduce isolation, especially for older adults. In some cities, converting vacant lots into green spaces reduced crime and insecurity (Lee, Jordan, and Horsley, 2015; Barron et al., 2019).
Land-use policies and Transit-Oriented Development	Encourage compact, mixed-use urban development to reduce transport demand and support active mobility.	Promotes physical activity, reduces CO ₂ emissions, and improves public health.	Higher costs in developed cities due to retrofitting challenges.	Barcelona's superblock model encourages cycling and walking while reducing car traffic. Other cities like Shanghai, Dubai, and Singapore have adopted similar models (Lehmann, 2016; Scoppa, Bawazir and Alawadi, 2018).
Teleworking	Reduce commuting by allowing flexible working from home.	Lowers commuting stress but can lead to isolation and work-life imbalance. It also reduces emissions and improves air quality.	Low to moderate – Savings for companies and employees, but IT infrastructure costs may increase.	Teleworking reduced Beijing's road transport emissions by 7.05%, cutting carbon emissions by 1.32 million tonnes in 2022 (Li, Liu and Long, 2023).

Table 4. Complementary urban enhancement measures

Box 6. The 15-minute city, adopted by Paris and Melbourne

The concept of the 15-minute city encourages proximity, diversity, density and ubiquity to create rich urban environments that are easily walked or cycled. By favouring more compact and functionally mixed neighbourhoods, the concept seeks to maximise people's access to six essential urban functions: living, working, commerce, health care, education and entertainment (Moreno et al., 2021). Achieving easily walkable and bikeable urban areas can reduce travel distances, support accessibility, improve land-use efficiency, and, in turn, offer health benefits (Khavarian-Garmsir et al., 2023; OECD, 2021). While the "15-minute city" is more of a guiding concept than fully realised design and zoning practices, many cities seek to incorporate its principles into their urban planning (Khavarian-Garmsir et al., 2023).

For example, the municipality of Paris follows the principle of decentralisation and proximity in its urban policies. The concept of the 15-minute city is envisioned here through cycling distances. Priority is given to rehabilitation and space transformation over the construction of new infrastructures. Since 2014, Paris has allocated approximately EUR 316 million to create more than 1 500 km of cycling infrastructure (of which nearly 500 km is protected infrastructure), 12 new pedestrian squares, 180

pedestrianised school streets, seven new urban forests and one park converted from roadway and over 130 000 cycling parking spaces (La Ville de Paris, 2021, 2022, Ville de Paris, 2022; WRI, n.d.)..

Following the concept's guidelines, authorities in Melbourne, Australia, have integrated the notion of 20-minute neighbourhoods into the city planning vision for 2017-2050. This strategy aims to improve proximity by ensuring a fairer distribution of basic urban functions and employment opportunities across neighbourhoods (Pozoukidou and Chatziyiannaki, 2021).

The 15-minute city concept demands both a local focus and a cohesive global urban vision, as there is a significant risk of excluding certain areas, particularly the less advantaged populations often residing in the outskirts or surrounding regions (TUMI, 2021). Policymakers implementing the principles of the 15-minute cities should ensure a certain level of equity between neighbourhoods in terms of public intervention.

Evaluating health impacts of low-carbon mobility scenarios in cities

Low-carbon mobility scenarios offer significant health benefits in urban environments when properly integrated into transport and health policy frameworks. Traditional transport models have primarily focused on predicting traffic flows and infrastructure needs based on socio-economic and demographic factors. However, these models have often overlooked important health outcomes, such as the effects of increased physical activity and reduced air pollution on public well-being. By combining the International Transport Forum's (ITF) Global Urban Passenger model with the OECD Strategic Public Health Planning model for non-communicable diseases (SPHeP-NCD) health policy model, this chapter presents a more comprehensive approach to urban mobility, illustrating how different transport policies can influence public health. The analysis contrasts two scenarios Current Ambition and High Ambition, detailed later in this chapter, to highlight the potential for co-ordinated actions that not only lower emissions but also improve life expectancy, reduce the burden of chronic diseases, and lower health-care costs, all while supporting sustainable urban development.

Integrating transport and health models: A cross-sectoral approach

The initial goal of urban transport models was to estimate the evolution of traffic flows based on the socio-economic and demographic evolution of an urban area. Most of these were designed to evaluate the potential impact of building road or public transport infrastructures. From this starting point, mobility models were enhanced and adapted to address many new challenges, such as deriving carbon emissions from people and vehicle flows. The ITF Global Urban Passenger model (Box 7), for example, enables analysts to assess local pollutant emissions. While carbon emission developments can be assessed against international emission reduction commitments, with some additional efforts to convert national objectives to the urban transport level, such commitments are not usually available for local pollutants. Although it is commonly agreed that local pollutants should also decline, the lack of quantified commitments by governments, industry and individuals contributes to them featuring less in project and policy evaluations, labelling the local pollutant impacts secondary. In a similar manner, the increase of active modes is perceived as positive, but lacks concrete understanding and accounting of their benefits. To better represent the benefits from reduced local pollution and improved physical activity, it is necessary to go beyond the current scope of traditional urban transport models and convert their outputs into health impacts and outcomes.

Conversely, health models are well-suited to represent the impact of physical activity and local pollutants on health but are generally not designed to represent the complex impacts of specific transport policies on concrete mobility practices. Box 8 gives a brief overview of the OECD SPHeP-NCD health policy model for non-communicable disease. By combining the ITF Global Urban Passenger model with the OECD SPHeP-NCD health policy model, the expertise of both institutions can be leveraged to adequately represent transport and health impacts of policy making. It provides the opportunity to enhance traditional ITF analyses and adopt a more holistic, cross-sectoral perspective, better representing financial, emissions and well-being impacts of urban transport policies.

It is important to note that this analysis does not account for the fact that walkers and cyclists might be more exposed to air pollution than other passengers, potentially offsetting some of the health benefits of shifting to these modes due to externalities caused by other transport modes. Additionally, due to current modelling integration limitations, road safety elements have not been included in this analysis but are strongly envisioned for future work.

Overview of the ITF Global Urban Passenger and OECD SPHeP-NCD models

Including the impact of transport policies into health models or developing joint urban transport and health models is a growing area of research. Within the consultations conducted for this project, several major modelling approaches were identified: the Health Economic Assessment Tool for Walking and Cycling (HEAT) from the World Health Organisation; the Integrated Transport and Health Impact modelling tool (ITHIM) from Cambridge University, the Urban and Transport Planning Health Impact Assessment tool (UTOPHIA) from IS Global, and the Healthy Cities tool from Bax & Company. While all relevant, these are typically developed for one urban area only, or up to a national level for the HEAT. See Annex B for an overview of these models.

Box 7. The ITF Global Urban Passenger model

The ITF Global Urban Passenger model assesses mobility supply, demand, and performance using a dynamic systems approach. It estimates trips, mode shares, passenger and vehicle activity, and pollutant emissions for the timeframe from 2015 to 2050. These pollutants include carbon dioxide (CO₂), black carbon (BC), carbon monoxide (CO), ammonia (NH₃), nitrogen oxides (NO_x), particulate matter (PM), sulphur dioxide (SO₂), and volatile organic compounds (VOCs), with emissions calculated for 18 different transport modes. Furthermore, additional performance indicators are derived. Up to 23 policy measures or technology developments are included within the model, for 19 regional markets. A total of 9 234 metropolitan areas including the core cities and their suburbs, technically defined as macro Functional Urban Areas (mFUAs), are included.



Figure 7. Characteristics of the ITF Global Urban Passenger model

Source: The ITF Modelling Framework, https://www.itf-oecd.org/itf-modelling-framework-pasta-2023

The model simulates the evolution of the population of each mFUA every five years from 2015 to 2050. The combination of population and economic development assumptions leads to an evolution of cities, first by simulating urban growth, second by estimating the related evolution of transport supply and

trip distance distribution. New modal characteristics are derived before the trip generation and mode choice demand submodels are launched. The latter is based on a multinomial logit theoretical approach. The final transport demand is then assessed and converted into emissions using emission factors from the ITF vehicle fleet model. The model outputs comprise information on total transport-related physical activity for each population category and particulate matter emissions for this joint exercise.



Box 8. The OECD model for Strategic Public Health Planning for Non-communicable Diseases

The OECD model for Strategic Public Health Planning for Non-communicable Diseases (SPHeP-NCD) is an advanced systems modelling tool for public health policy and strategic planning. It projects population, health and economic outcomes to assess long-term impacts of policies over 2023-2050. The model covers 52 countries, including OECD, EU and G20 countries. For each, the model uses demographic and risk-factor characteristics by age and gender to generate synthetic populations. Individuals within these populations are assigned demographic characteristics and a risk factor profile (alcohol consumption, body mass index, tobacco use, blood pressure, pollution and diet) with a probability of contracting a Non-Communicable Disease (NCD): Type 2 diabetes, stroke, ischaemic heart disease, cancers (lung, breast, colorectum, oesophageal, liver, stomach, nasopharynx, pharynx, oropharynx, lib and oral cavity), depression, dementia, musculo-skeletal disorders, chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases, cirrhosis, alcohol dependence and injuries. The model uses a competing event framework: for any individual, diseases and causes of death compete to determine the death of an individual.



Source: Adapted from: http://oecdpublichealthexplorer.org/ncd-doc/_2_1_Modelling_Principles.html

Healthcare costs of disease treatment are estimated on a per-case annual cost. Disease-related costs are calculated for cardiovascular diseases, cancers, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, dementia, musculo-skeletal disorders, depression, diabetes, cirrhosis, lower respiratory diseases, alcohol use disorder, and injuries. Individual healthcare access and consumption are considered constant over time for a given age, sex and disease profile. The additional cost of multimorbidity is also calculated and applied. End-of-life costs are also applied, accounting for an increasing cost in the last year of life.

The labour market module uses relative risks of a disease status and to the risk of absenteeism, presenteeism, early retirement and employment. The changes in productivity and labour market participation are calculated in full-time equivalent workers, and are costed based on a human capital approach, using national average wages.

Additional resources on the model and related work:

- Model website: <u>Modelling the burden of disease SPHeP-NCDs documentation</u>
- http://oecdpublichealthexplorer.org/ncd-doc/_2_1_Modelling_Principles.html
- 2021 study on alcohol prevention:
- Goryakin, Y., et al. (2021), "The health and economic burden of alcohol consumption", in *Preventing Harmful Alcohol Use*, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/2304eb8c-en</u>.
- -2024 paper on tobacco control: Devaux M, Dorfmuller Ciampi M, Guignard R, et al (2024), "Economic evaluation of the recent French tobacco control policy: a model-based approach", *Tobacco Control*, https://doi.org/10.1136/tc-2023-058568_

Defining geographic scope when combining data sources

The main challenge of this joint transport and health modelling exercise relies on the combination of two models with different data sources and scopes. Fortunately, both models rely on the joint OECD and European Commissions Functional Urban Area definition, ensuring the compatibility of the analysis. However, while the ITF model is global and considers all urban areas in all countries, the SPHeP-NCD model focuses on OECD, EU and G20 countries, limiting the scope available in the ITF Transport Outlook 2023, which covers more countries. As a result, and to ensure regions of similar size are represented, the regional output is displayed according to the following world regions: UCAN + JK (United States, Canada, Australia, New Zealand, Japan and Korea), China, India, LAC (Latin America and the Caribbean) and Europe (EEA + Turkey). Among these, only the India and LAC regions are considered as emerging economies in the analysis of results that follows.

Articulating two models with different structures and from different sectors

Along with the geographical scope, several challenges arise when combining two models relying on different approaches. The articulation for this project is based on the communication of physical activity and transport emissions generated with the ITF global urban passenger model being inputted to the OECD SPHeP-NCD.



Figure 10. Articulation of ITF Global Urban Passenger model and the OECD SPHeP-NCD model

Typically, the unit modelled by the ITF global urban passenger model is the trip assigned to an age and gender category within an urban area, while the SPHeP-NCD model is representing individuals going through life events. As a result, the physical activity stemming from the ITF model is produced as a total volume of passenger-kilometres (pkm) for each age and gender category. Additional assumptions must be made to determine the number of individuals who will experience a change in physical activity, as opposed to the overall variation. For example, an increase of 1 000 km by walking in the ITF model could be the result of either one individual walking much more, or from 1 000 individuals each walking 1 km more, which would be more beneficial from a health perspective. Similarly, pollutant emissions are generated at the city level and additional assumptions must be made to assign them to the city centre or the suburbs, where their concentrations usually vary. Eventually, the passenger activity is converted into Metabolic Equivalent of Task (METs)-minutes per week by the OECD. Here, METs are a standardised unit used to estimate the energy expenditure of physical activities, with one MET representing the energy spent at rest. The measurement "MET-minutes per week" quantifies physical activity by multiplying the intensity of an activity (in METs) by its duration, providing a meaningful metric for assessing the health benefits of transport-related physical activity. The modelled impact of physical activity is measured by the difference in METs-minutes per week between the Current and High Ambition scenarios.

Further improvements in the interplay of both models are the inclusion of a road safety indicator translating the average number of road conflicts that can also be inputted in the SPHeP-NCD model. Conversely, a feedback loop from the health to the transport model is under consideration. This could, for example, reflect the use of active modes for longer distances following the health benefits generated by the health model. Further calibration on age and gender categories to investigate the equity impacts of transport policies in more detail is also envisioned.

Comparing low-carbon mobility pathways: Current versus High Ambition scenarios

The two policy scenarios studied in this modelling exercise are the Current Ambition and High Ambition scenarios from the ITF Transport Outlook 2023.

"The Current Ambition scenario provides insights into how transport demand and emissions could evolve over the coming decades if transport policy continues along its current path. The High Ambition scenario, by contrast, looks at the impact of adopting more ambitious policies to decarbonise the transport sector." (ITF, 2023c).

At the urban passenger transport level, scenarios were derived by estimating several policy measures being implemented, and infrastructure and technology developments. It is important to note that the High Ambition scenario was designed by stating how far each measure could individually be implemented, before being aggregated in the scenario. As a result, each separate implementation of a measure is likely feasible, but there is lower confidence for the feasibility of the sum of all these measures at their maximum level. The High Ambition scenario can be considered as slightly more ambitious than what experts consider feasible today in terms of policy implementation. The GPD per capita assumption does not vary across scenarios, even though evidence of the impact of climate change on GDP evolution could lead to different GDP trajectories.

The measures feeding into these two scenarios can be grouped into five categories: **economic instruments** (carbon pricing, road pricing, parking pricing), **infrastructure enhancement** (bike and pedestrian infrastructure improvement, public transport infrastructure improvement), **service improvement** (public transport service improvement, public transport priority and express lanes, vehicle-sharing incentives, carpooling policies, Mobility As A Service, integrated public transport ticketing), **regulatory measures** (parking restrictions, urban vehicle restrictions, speed limitations,), and **others** (land-use planning, Transit-Oriented Development) listed in Annex A.

Comparing two different scenarios

In the scenario comparison for this project, it is important to consider that the two scenarios were simulated with complex models and vary not only along one, but several measures and variables. As a result, the output must be interpreted comprehensively to draw accurate conclusions. For instance, the average mode share of walking, measured in passenger-kilometres (pkm), may change across the scenarios, while the total amount of PKM covered by walking is the same, yet the total amount of PKM (across all modes) varies across the scenarios.

Figure 11 shows the evolution of the total volume of passenger transport demand between 2022 and 2050, under each scenario and for each world region. All regions show a decrease in total demand between Current and High Ambition coming from a reduction in urban sprawl and diversification of land-use mixtures, reducing the need for travelling long distances. The total demand systematically increases across scenarios by 2050 under the expected economic and demographic growth. In Europe and LAC, the total demand in 2050 under the High Ambition is relatively steady, in the same order of magnitude as in 2022.



Figure 11. Total volume of passenger travel demand by region and scenario to 2050

Total passenger travel demand (billion passenger-kilometres)

Note: Outputs in the figure are displayed according to the following world regions: UCAN + JK (United States, Canada, Australia, New Zealand, Japan and Korea), China, India, LAC (Latin America and the Caribbean) and Europe (EEA + Turkey)

When focusing on active mobility, Figure 12 shows total pkm for all regions is higher in the High Ambition (HA) scenario than in the Current Ambition (CA) scenario in 2050, except for China. This could be driven by stronger densification measures and significant promotion of public transport infrastructures and services. However, walking always has a lower level of pkm in the HA scenario than in the CA scenario, and the increase of physical activity generally comes from a higher cycling level. This is the result of a shift from a predominantly urban-sprawl growth under the Current Ambition to one driven by the promotion of active mobility via adapted policies and well-designed infrastructure under the High Ambition scenario. This is especially the case for lower income countries where private motorised transport is less available. The outcome, while increasing overall active mobility, reduces walking by removing some of the trips that were made on foot due to a lack of other alternatives and reducing overall trip distances.



Figure 12. Active mobility demand by region and scenario, including within public transport to 2050

Active mobility demand (billion passenger-kilometres)

Note: Outputs in the figure are displayed according to the following world regions: UCAN + JK (United States, Canada, Australia, New Zealand, Japan and Korea), China, India, LAC (Latin America and the Caribbean) and Europe (EEA + Turkey)

Bending the emissions trajectory

The ITF Transport Outlook 2023 shows that transport-related emissions (including passenger, freight, urban and non-urban transport) are expected to remain steady under Current Ambition scenarios and decrease under High Ambition scenarios to a point compatible with the IPCC 1.5 degree scenario's annual emissions by 2050 (ITF, 2023c).

In this modelling exercise for this report, the difference in exhaust particulate matter (PM2.5) emissions is the input variable that is used by the SPHeP-NCD model, coming as output from the ITF's model, for model interoperability reasons. As non-exhaust emissions of fine particulate matter are not included, the results likely underestimate actual PM2.5 levels, particularly in high-electrification scenarios where exhaust emissions decrease significantly but non-exhaust emissions persist or increase. Figure 13 represents its evolution across scenarios and levels of national income along with other relevant local pollutants (BC: Black Carbon, NH3: ammonia, NOx: nitric oxide, SO2: sulphur dioxide, and VOC: volatile organic compounds). Pollutants are significantly decreasing in high-income countries for both scenarios, and under the HA scenario for middle-income countries. However, despite decreasing for both CA and HA scenarios, they remain significantly above 2019 levels for PM2.5. This much less-efficient result for lower-income countries comes from the use of second-hand vehicles with high-emission levels for public transport and the lower technological improvement rate for vehicles. Even a shift towards public transport is not enough to tackle the local pollutant issue. China, on the other hand, is expected to experience a strong decrease in local pollutant emissions given its strong public transport infrastructure development and national vehicle electrification strategy.



Figure 13. Evolution of local pollutant emissions between countries of differing income to 2050

Source: (ITF, 2023c)

Health benefits of sustainable urban mobility systems

When converting transport indicators into health ones, the most meaningful is the number of years of life saved due to the High Ambition scenario, compared to those years for the Current Ambition. According to Figure 14, it is estimated that about 13 trillion life years could be saved in the urban areas of the study countries over the 2022 to 2050 period. The highest positive effect is expected in China, Europe and UCAN

+ JK where the urban air quality is expected to strongly increase. It is worth noting that these results likely underestimate the total years of life saved, as the model only accounts for changes in passenger transport and does not include the potential additional health benefits from reduced freight transport emissions. When considering Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALYs), where life years are discounted when an individual suffers from a chronic disease, the impact is even stronger with 21.5 trillion DALYs saved. This value, higher than the years of life, means that the High Ambition scenario increases the overall number of years of life, but it also reduces the number of years of life lived with a chronic disease.



Figure 14. Life years saved by the High Ambition scenario

Figure 15 shows that the impact of the High Ambition scenario is stronger for reducing the occurrence of diabetes, respiratory and cardio-vascular diseases. The occurrence of these illnesses can be reduced by 10%. Noncommunicable diseases (NCD) account for 74% of global deaths, with 77% occurring in low- and middle-income countries, where cardiovascular diseases, chronic respiratory illnesses, and cancers are most prevalent (WHO, 2023c). Premature NCD deaths are particularly severe in these regions, making targeted transport and environmental interventions potentially transformative. For instance, improving air quality and promoting active mobility can significantly reduce cardiovascular and respiratory risks, contributing to global efforts to combat NCDs while addressing inequalities. This dual benefit highlights the importance of prioritising equitable urban transport planning, addresses regional challenges but also maximises health outcomes where they are needed most.

Improvements, albeit lower levels are observed for mental health as physical activity increases, with a diminution of occurrence of 0.1-0.2%. For dementia, it is worth observing that it follows an opposite trend as its occurrence increases up to 1-2%. This comes from the longer life expectancy enabled by the increase in years of life, which increases the older population subject to dementia.



Figure 15. Evolution of non-communicable disease occurrence to 2050

Disease occurrence evolution

Index: COPD: Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease; CVD: Cardio-Vascular Disease; LRI: Low Respiratory tract Infection

A future limited by our ambition, not by financial capacities

Improvements in health and overall well-being are anticipated to drive a long-term shift in health-care expenditure and workforce productivity. Primarily, direct health benefits influence life expectancy, the prevalence of chronic diseases, and the age at which these conditions emerge. Depending on how this distribution evolves, it could lead to a prevalence of either more or less expensive diseases for public health systems. However, Figure 15 shows a broad decline in costly diseases for society, with only a marginal increase in those not particularly expensive. Therefore, a positive impact leading to savings in health-care expenditure is expected. For this project, we have defined health expenditure as the final consumption of health care goods and services including personal health care and collective services.

Improvements in well-being enhance physical capacity, resilience to stress, and reduce the likelihood of various diseases, in turn boosting motivation. These factors influence productivity in terms of Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) availability of workers, absenteeism (i.e. missing workdays), presenteeism (i.e. being at work with reduced productivity), and early retirement.



Figure 16. Yearly public health spendings avoided with a High Ambition scenario

Figure 16 presents the estimated evolution of health-care expenditures. In total, about USD 875 billion could be saved annually in the study regions, with the largest savings expected in regions where health improvements are most pronounced. At the national level, these savings are estimated to be between 0.1% and 2.0% of public health spending under the Current Ambition scenario. This outcome is particularly positive, considering that health benefits are not the primary aim of the sustainable urban transport policies tested in the model. However, it is important to note that baseline physical activity levels vary significantly across regions, which can influence the extent of health improvements observed. Regions with lower initial physical activity levels may see greater gains, while those with higher baseline activity levels may experience more modest improvements. These variations could also indirectly affect the prevalence of diseases linked to physical inactivity, amplifying or moderating the health benefits across different contexts.

Figure 17 shows the estimated outcomes when focusing on productivity impacts. Overall, health improvements lead to a significant increase in workforce availability, with an additional 860 000 FTE years projected. Approximately 75% of this increase comes from higher employment, with the remainder almost equally split between reductions in absenteeism and presenteeism. Changes in early retirement remain relatively marginal. Converting this added workforce capacity into economic value, the projected yearly gains amount to USD 22 billion. While this figure is smaller than the expected savings in public health spending, it underscores the additional benefits of sustainable and health-focused transport measures.

Figure 17. Yearly annual Full Time Equivalent and productivity gains from the High Ambition scenario to 2050



Yearly productivity gains from the High Ambition scenario

	FTE Employment	Absenteeism	Presenteeism	Early Retirement	Total
China	335 779	53 206	56 155	-7 514	437 625
Europe	100 773	11 091	15 680	2 801	130 346
India	59 567	23 738	17 625	-1 006	99 924
LAC	29 218	6 120	6 506	1 565	43 410
UCAN + JK	116 533	12 380	17 026	3 720	149 658
Total	641 870	106 535	112 991	-433	860 962

Building on the previous investment analysis from the ITF Transport Outlook 2023, the High Ambition scenario was shown to result in lower overall transport expenses for the sector. This may be less true at the urban level, where significant investments in public transport are anticipated. However, the health benefits identified in this analysis significantly compensate for these investment costs. Since health expenditures are typically two to three times greater than transport expenditures, the savings observed are likely to fully cover the increased costs of urban passenger transport, even without accounting for productivity gains. Consequently, the argument that financing such measures is overly expensive no longer holds, as investments in sustainable transport policies also have the potential to boost GDP.

The findings of this analysis underscore the substantial health, economic, and environmental benefits that can be realised through the adoption of ambitious low-carbon mobility scenarios in cities. By integrating transport and health models, a more comprehensive view of the impacts of urban mobility policies emerges, illustrating that these initiatives reduce emissions but also improve public health outcomes, increase life expectancy, and reduce the prevalence of chronic diseases. The High Ambition scenario demonstrates that co-ordinated efforts towards sustainable urban transport can lead to significant savings in health-care costs, productivity gains, and reduced health-care expenditures, ultimately contributing to a more resilient and economically viable future. These results reinforce the argument that ambitious investment in sustainable transport infrastructure is not only feasible but essential for long-term societal well-being.

Towards a healthy low-carbon future

As cities grow, promoting healthier and more sustainable urban environments becomes increasingly challenging. This chapter outlines the primary challenges, such as financial barriers, fragmented urban governance, political resistance, and the balance between decarbonisation and well-being. It also offers solutions and strategies, focusing on cross-sectoral collaboration, citizen engagement, and context-specific policies that account for socio-economic inequalities. These approaches aim to create a more equitable, sustainable, and healthier urban future for all.

Addressing financial barriers to healthier urban environments

Financing healthier urban environments remains a significant challenge to policymakers globally. Although policies promoting active transport and urban health could result in long-term savings, such as reduced health-care costs, the short-term financial benefits are not always apparent to policymakers. Often, there is hesitance to implement health-prioritising policies because the return on investment is not immediately visible, with urban authorities viewing health investments as a potential financial loss (Brown et al., 2019). The WHO estimates that from 2020 to 2030, physical inactivity could lead to costs of about USD 300 billion (USD 27 billion annually) for global public health-care systems if the trend of rising sedentary behaviour persists (WHO, 2024).

To overcome these financial barriers, focus must be on the long-term savings that health-centred policies can provide. Encouraging active transport and physical activity through urban design can mitigate the rising health-care costs associated with physical inactivity. Policymakers should integrate a concept equivalent to the economic rational of the "value of time", which assigns a monetary value to time saved, to assess how reducing health risks can lead to both economic and societal benefits. This means recognising that investing in health improvements can save lives, reduce health-care costs, and improve productivity, ultimately benefiting society as-a-whole. Engaging with experts across sectors to provide evidence-based analyses can help demonstrate the potential financial gains of healthier urban environments.

Breaking down silos for collaborative urban health solutions

Urban planning, transport, public health, and environment departments often operate in silos, leading to inefficiencies in creating integrated health-focused urban policies. The lack of co-operation both within and across various levels of governance (municipal, urban, and national) complicates decision-making (Nieuwenhuijsen, 2016). In major cities with several local governments, transport is often managed by multiple agencies, each with different priorities, further fragmenting efforts to implement cohesive urban strategies (Pojani and Stead, 2015). This translates into budget allocations typically dispersed across administrations, complicating the financing of urban transformation initiatives that require collaboration across multiple sectors to implement well-considered decisions and operations (Nieuwenhuijsen, 2016; Khreis, May and Nieuwenhuijsen, 2017).

One innovative way to achieve a more co-ordinated, health-focused strategy across sectors is to establish a Healthy City Manager position within urban municipalities. This role would be responsible for reviewing and defining strategic actions and policies, evaluating their health impact to ensure that the well-being of citizens is prioritised and improved upon (Lenzi et al., 2020).

Collaboration across disciplines and sectors is essential for understanding and addressing complex challenges that transcend different fields such as the environment, finance, sociology, medicine, urban

planning, and transport. Working across sectors and disciplines can help to address complex health issues and promote interventions that support both population health and equity (Ramirez-Rubio et al., 2019; Zumelzu and Herrmann-Lunecke, 2021). In Quebec, Canada, intersectoral collaboration approaches were developed through the creation of working groups and steering committees involving cross-sectoral authorities at different scales (health, urban planning, education, economics, and others). Similarly, the Transport, Health and Environment Pan-European Programme (THE PEP), established by UNECE and WHO, provides a platform for countries to collaborate on linking transport, health, and environmental goals (UNECE, n.d.). It promotes active mobility, clean transport, and urban design that improves public health while addressing climate and air pollution challenges. These collaborations aim to integrate health considerations into most policies, to better understand and address the risks associated with chronic diseases and diabetes (Gamache et al., 2020; Lamanna et al., 2020). In addition to these collaborations, a mechanism for sharing the benefits of a policy across different administrative levels and different sectors would be key.

In traditional settings, cities lack incentives to adopt transport policies that may be unpopular with the public, especially if the financial benefits ultimately go to the health ministry. Having every stakeholder collaborate is a good step forward, yet it is not enough. Co-financing mechanisms must be set up to ensure that all actors are compensated and incentivised for implementing healthier low-carbon policies.

Ensuring the implementation of long-term urban health policies

Local administration plays a crucial role in shaping the city toward more sustainable paradigms (Tokay Argan, 2016). However, the frequent changes in political administrations can disrupt long-term health-focused initiatives, leading to inconsistent policy. Politicians often focus on short-term, visible gains due to electoral cycles, which hinders the long-term commitment necessary for impactful health and environmental reforms (Hudson et al., 2019).

Furthermore, enforcing regulations that improve health and air quality, such as car-restricted zones, requires strong political backing. Without consistent political and institutional support, such measures may not be effectively implemented, reducing their potential impact (Parajuli and Pojani, 2018).

Depoliticising issues like health and transportation could help align urban policies with long-term sustainability goals, though this is difficult in practice due to the changing visions of political parties. Transparent communication about the objectives and benefits of these initiatives can help build public support. Establishing dedicated non-elected positions in the administration or cross-party urban health boards could also provide continuity and political accountability, ensuring that urban health remains a priority across different administrations.

Raising public awareness and engagement for healthier urban policies

Public resistance to urban health initiatives can slow the implementation of critical policies, particularly when these policies disrupt daily routines or are perceived as inconvenient. For example, pedestrianisation or the addition of bike lanes can be met with resistance from car users who may feel their convenience is being sacrificed (Gössling et al., 2024; Ohlund et al., 2022; Parajuli and Pojani, 2018). Limited awareness about the long-term benefits of these changes often fuels this resistance. Without adequate public support, even well-designed policies risk failure or significant delays (Nieuwenhuijsen, 2021).

Public awareness campaigns are essential to build support for transformative urban health policies. Decision makers should prioritise transparent communication, explaining how these initiatives improve well-being and the environment in the long term. Platforms that engage citizens, such as public

consultations and feedback forums, can create a sense of ownership and encourage more positive reception to changes (Latif, Rashid and Nasir, 2023). Media campaigns highlighting tangible benefits, such as improved air quality and reduced traffic congestion, can also help to shift public perception. Engaging local communities through participatory processes ensures that public concerns are addressed, and policies are tailored to meet diverse needs (WHO, 2023b).

Navigating trade-offs between decarbonisation and well-being

Balancing efforts to reduce carbon emissions with the aim of improving overall well-being can present difficult trade-offs. For instance, increasing green areas can reduce pollution and improve health, but it may also lead to rising property values, disadvantaging lower-income individuals (Moreno et al., 2024). Similarly, implementing car usage taxes (e.g. parking charges, geofencing) can reduce traffic and improve environmental conditions. However, it might increase inequalities, as higher-income individuals may be less affected and thus not change their car usage, which compromises the fairness of collective efforts to reduce pollution, and disadvantage lower-income individuals. Such policies, if designed inclusively, can foster safer streets with reduced congestion and noise levels, enhancing urban liveability and the overall quality of life. Some measures such as restricting car usage can also bring inconveniences to travel if public transport is inadequate and unreliable, reducing access to urban amenities.

To minimise the negative externalities of decarbonisation policies, governments must develop comprehensive strategies that consider both environmental and socio-economic factors. For example, controlling housing prices in areas where green spaces are being introduced can prevent the displacement of lower-income residents. Similarly, income-based car usage taxes could ensure that all individuals contribute fairly to pollution reduction efforts (World Economic Forum, 2018). Improving access to safe, efficient, and inclusive public transport can enhance mobility while reducing the stress and fatigue often associated with inefficient travel options, thereby supporting better mental and physical health outcomes. By addressing potential conflicts in advance and continuously evaluating the effects of policies, cities can create more inclusive and equitable solutions that improve both health and well-being (Moreno et al., 2024).

Adopting context-specific approaches

The priorities of urban administrators vary significantly depending on the context, making the replication of best practices challenging due to the unique conditions and dynamics of each city or urban region (Pojani and Stead, 2015). In low- and middle-income countries, priorities typically centre on development goals such as poverty reduction and economic growth, often driven by limited funding that necessitates a focus on the most urgent issues. Conversely, high-income countries tend to prioritise policies emphasising co-benefits, such as environmental sustainability and public health (Stahlke, 2023).

Rapid and uncontrolled urban development characterises low- and middle-income countries, leading to significant environmental and sociocultural changes (Cheshmehzangi and Butters, 2022). This rapid growth frequently increases volumes of motorised vehicles exceeding urban infrastructure capacities and contributing to major traffic congestion (Khreis, May and Nieuwenhuijsen, 2017; Ramirez-Rubio et al., 2019). In many contexts, owning a private car is perceived as a symbol of socio-economic status associated with comfort and freedom, while walking and cycling are often stigmatised as indicators of poverty (Cheshmehzangi and Butters, 2022; Pojani and Stead, 2015). Consequently, urban and transport planning in these rapidly growing cities often prioritises car-centric norms, neglecting non-motorised infrastructure

and marginalising less mobile and vulnerable groups, including women and low-income individuals (Gil Solá and Vilhelmson, 2022; Pojani and Stead, 2015).

In many sub-Saharan African cities, essential pedestrian infrastructure like streetlighting and wellmaintained paths and bridges is often lacking, even though walking accounts for 50% to 90% of daily trips. Policymakers tend to prioritise roads for motor vehicles, leading to unsafe conditions and unpleasant walking experiences (Benton et al., 2023; Okyere et al., 2023; Oviedo et al., 2024). In car-centric cities, transport-related externalities such as air pollution, congestion, accidents, noise, and the heat island effect raise health risks, including increased morbidity. More and more urban residents face health problems linked to sedentary lifestyles, partly due to excessive private vehicle use (Abusaada and Elshater, 2024).

Despite limited financial resources, cities in low- and middle-income countries can implement costeffective policies to raise public awareness, shift mobility paradigms, and increase green spaces. These measures can enhance residents' well-being and health while reducing long-term health-care costs (Pojani and Stead, 2015; Brown et al., 2019). Specific actions may include:

- Awareness campaigns: Developing public campaigns that promote the health benefits of active transport modes like walking and cycling.
- **Infrastructure investment:** Prioritising the development of non-motorised infrastructure, such as pedestrian paths and cycling lanes, to create safe and accessible environments for all residents.
- **Green space development:** Increasing green spaces in urban areas to provide recreational opportunities and improve mental health, while also enhancing urban biodiversity.
- **Policy reform:** Encouraging policymakers to shift from car-centric planning to a more balanced approach that includes all forms of mobility, ensuring equitable access for vulnerable populations.

Promoting equity in health and mobility

Guiding principles for city design should prioritise inclusivity, ensuring the city is planned for everyone, not just for the most visible groups. Infrastructure and urban environment must ensure the independence and security of all individuals to promote equitable access to health and well-being (Van Schalkwyk and Mindell, 2018). Experiences of urban environments vary significantly based on gender, age, socio-cultural factors, class, and disability, which influence both health and mobility outcomes. Many disadvantaged groups face mobility barriers that restrict their access to essential services, health care and social opportunities, leading to poorer health outcomes and exacerbating inequalities. Specific challenges include:

Gender

Women often encounter unique mobility challenges due to differing travel patterns and fewer available transport options compared to men. They typically rely more on public transport and walking, which may involve managing multiple short trips and additional caregiving responsibilities (Hanson, 2010; Goel et al., 2023). Women also cycle less than men, particularly in cities with low cycling rates. In cities with higher cycling rates, the gender gap narrows (Ravensbergen, Buliung and Laliberté , 2019; Kosmidis and Müller-Eie, 2024). Factors contributing to this disparity include greater safety concerns among women, discouraging cultural norms and their disproportionate responsibility for care-related tasks, which often require complex trip patterns, strict schedules, and access to safe, reliable, and inclusive transport options.

Improving urban access and health for all requires addressing such mobility barriers. Policy making should address women's specific needs to improve their mobility experience and ensure they can travel where

they need to go. This includes prioritising pedestrian and safer cycling infrastructures, ensuring safety from road crashes, harassment, and any criminal risks, and increasing the reliability and functionality of public transport (Goel et al., 2023).

Age

Older adults often face limited access to mobility due to physical or psychological limitations and may experience difficulties in walking or cycling (Gorman et al., 2003). Often, public transport systems are inadequately designed to meet their needs. These mobility limitations and the lack of accessibility can lead to social isolation and associated health risks (Matsuda et al., 2019). However, it is important to recognise that prolonging physical activity among older adults provides significant health maintenance benefits, such as improved cardiovascular health, reduced risk of chronic diseases, and better mental well-being. These benefits often outweigh the potential risks of falls or crashes leading to traumatic injuries among pedestrians and cyclists, highlighting the importance of designing safe infrastructure to support active mobility.

Similarly, young children and parents also have a much-reduced access to the mobility system. Parents managing childcare responsibilities may struggle with unreliable or inaccessible public transport, while children are more dependent on safe walking and cycling environments. Understanding the mobility barriers faced by each age group is fundamental for developing policies that address their specific needs and promote equitable health outcomes.

Income and employment

Income and employment disparities significantly influence urban living conditions, shaping access to resources, opportunities, and health outcomes. Urban form can contribute to social and economic inequalities, leading to health inequalities (Smit et al., 2011). Lower income earners often live in areas with limited public transport access, leading to long commutes and exposure to higher levels of air pollution. Urban policies that prioritise city centres can exacerbate these inequalities, leaving peripheral areas underserved (Prior Filipe et al., 2024; Tobollik et al., 2016). Additionally, they are often exposed to higher levels of traffic-related air pollution as their housing is frequently located near motorways, airports, or far from recreational and green areas (de Vries et al., 2003; Van Schalkwyk and Mindell, 2018; Martens, 2020). Lower income earners may rely more on walking, cycling, and public transport due to the higher cost of owning a car or a motorbike. In car-centric environments, they tend to be more vulnerable to traffic-related injuries and fatalities (Martens, 2020).

Mobility constraint and disability

Persons with disabilities encounter significant challenges in accessing mobility on a global scale (Gorman et al., 2003). With limited mobility options, their reliance on others increases which reduces their social and physical autonomy, affecting their well-being (Alauzet, 2017; Van Schalkwyk and Mindell, 2018).

To create more inclusive and accessible cities for all groups mentioned here, policymakers should implement strategies that address these barriers:

- **Diverse hiring practices:** Employing a diverse range of professionals in urban planning can ensure a broader spectrum of personal experiences is considered in the design of city infrastructures.
- Data collection: Conducting quantitative surveys and qualitative interviews to gather data on mobility access and pollution exposure across socio-economic groups can help to identify barriers and prioritise areas for transport improvements (Gorman et al., 2003).

- **Targeted interventions:** Developing specific policies addressing the mobility needs of different groups, such as safer pedestrian infrastructure for women and better public transport access for older adults.
- Equitable infrastructure distribution: Ensuring the equitable distribution of active mobility and public transport infrastructure throughout the city, including peripheral areas, can enhance opportunities for lower-income individuals. Additionally, improving living conditions in economically disadvantaged areas by better controlling pollution and increasing green spaces can support overall health and well-being.

This chapter has explored the challenges and solutions necessary for fostering a low-carbon future that enhances urban well-being. By integrating financial, collaborative, political, and social strategies, policymakers can create healthier urban environments that serve all residents. A commitment to inclusive, long-term planning will be crucial in achieving the dual goals of sustainability and health for all.

References

Abusaada, H. and A. Elshater (2024), "Revisiting urban street planning and design factors to promote walking as a physical activity for middle-class individuals with metabolic syndrome in Cairo, Egypt", *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, Vol. 21(4), p.402, https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH21040402.

ADEME (2020), Zones à faibles émissions (Low Emission Zones) à travers l'Europe - Déploiement, retours d'expérience, évaluation d'impacts et efficacité du système, ADEME,

Aguiléra, A. and E. Pigalle (2021), "The future and sustainability of carpooling practices: An identification of research challenges", *Sustainability 2021*, Vol. 13(21), p.11824, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/SU132111824</u>.

Alauzet, A. (2017), « Mobilité et handicap : une question de point de vue », *TEC Mobilité Intelligente [Revue TEC : Transport Environnement Circulation]*, Vol. 235, pp.32-33, <u>https://hal.science/hal-01670662</u>.

Autodelen.net (2022), Impact report: Car sharing in Belgium in 2022, <u>https://www.autodelen.net/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Impact-report-Car-w-in-Belgium-in-2022.pdf</u>.

Barron, S. et al. (2019), "Greening blocks: A conceptual typology of practical design interventions to integrate health and climate resilience co-benefits", *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 2019*, Vol. 16(21), p.4241, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH16214241</u>.

Benton, J. S. et al. (2023), ""Walking is our asset": How to retain walking as a valued mode of transport in African cities", *Cities*, Vol. 137, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CITIES.2023.104297</u>.

Brown, V.et al. (2019), "Better transport accessibility, better health: a health economic impact assessment study for Melbourne, Australia", *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, Vol. *16*(1), https://doi.org/10.1186/S12966-019-0853-Y.

Cao, Z. et al. (2022), "Associations of sedentary time and physical activity with adverse health conditions: Outcome-wide analyses using isotemporal substitution model", *EClinicalMedicine*, Vol. 48, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2022.101424.

Chatziioannou, I. et al. (2023), "Ranking sustainable urban mobility indicators and their matching transport policies to support liveable city Futures: A MICMAC approach", *Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives*, Vol. 18, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TRIP.2023.100788</u>.

Cheshmehzangi, A. and C. Butters (2022), "Sustainable cities: Reconsidering China's urban residential policies", *Current Urban Studies*, Vol. 10(01), pp.136–155, <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/CUS.2022.101008</u>.

Chung, J. H., K. Yeon Hwang and Y. Kyung Bae (2012), "The loss of road capacity and self-compliance: Lessons from the Cheonggyecheon stream restoration", *Transport Policy*, Vol. 21, pp.165–178, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TRANPOL.2012.01.009.

Citi Bike (2023), *The Citi Bike program is growing! Announcing Citi Bike's largest expansion program expansion in five years*, <u>https://citibikenyc.com/blog/program-expansion2023</u> (Accessed 13 December 2024).

Clockston, R. L. M. and D. Rojas-Rueda (2021), "Health impacts of bike-sharing systems in the U.S.", *Environmental Research*, Vol. 202, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2021.111709</u>.

Cycling Embassy of Denmark (2020), *Danish cycling statistics*, https://cyclingsolutions.info/embassy/danish-cycling-statistics/ (accessed 13 December 2024).

de Haas, M. and L. Kolkowski (2023), Cycling facts 2023, <u>https://english.kimnet.nl/publications/publications/2024/01/10/cycling-facts-2023</u>.

de Vries, S. et al. (2003), Natural environments – healthy environments? An exploratory analysis of the relationship between greenspace and health, Vol. 35(10), pp.1717-1731, https://doi.org/10.1068/A35111.

Deliry, S. I. and H. Uyguçgil (2023), "Accessibility assessment of urban public services using GIS-based network analysis: A case study in Eskişehir, Türkiye", *GeoJournal*, *88*(5), 4805–4825, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S10708-023-10900-Y/FIGURES/12</u>.

Dora, C. and F. Racioppi (2003), "Including health in transport policy agendas: The role of health impact assessment analyses and procedures in the European experience", *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, Vol. 81(6), p.399, <u>https://pmc.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/articles/PMC2572479/</u>.

Dyer, G. M. C. et al. (2024), "Exploring the nexus of urban form, transport, environment and health in large-scale urban studies: A state-of-the-art scoping review", *Environmental Research*, Vol. 257, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2024.119324.

Fishman, E., P. Schepers and C. B. M. Kamphuis (2015), "Dutch cycling: Quantifying the health and related economic benefits", *American Journal of Public Health*, Vol. 105(8), <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2015.302724</u>.

Fussell, J. C. et al. (2022), "A review of road traffic-derived non-exhaust particles: Emissions, physicochemical characteristics, health risks, and mitigation measures", *Environmental Science & Technology*, Vol. 56(11), pp.6813-6835, <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.2c01072</u>.

Galvin, M. and A. Maassen (2019), *Urban Transformations: The Reinvention of Eskisehir, Turkey from Dump to Destination*, WRI - World Resources Institute, <u>https://www.wri.org/insights/urban-transformations-reinvention-eskisehir-turkey-dump-destination</u>.

Gamache, S. et al. (2020), "The elaboration of an intersectoral partnership to perform health impact assessment in urban planning: The experience of Quebec City (Canada)", *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, Vol. 17(20), pp.1-15, https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH17207556.

Gil Solá, A. and B. Vilhelmson (2022), "To choose, or not to choose, a nearby activity option: Understanding the gendered role of proximity in urban settings", *Journal of Transport Geography*, Vol. 99, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JTRANGEO.2022.103301</u>.

Glazener, A. et al. (2021), "Fourteen pathways between urban transportation and health: A conceptual model and literature review", *Journal of Transport & Health*, Vol. 21, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JTH.2021.101070.

Goel, R. et al. (2023), "Gender differences in active travel in major cities across the world", *Transportation*, Vol. 50, pp.733-749, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11116-021-10259-4</u>.

Gorman, D. et al. (2003), "Transport policy and health inequalities: A health impact assessment of Edinburgh's transport policy", *Public Health*, Vol. 117(1), pp.15-24, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0033-3506(02)00002-1</u>.

Gössling, S. et al. (2024), "Urban transport system changes in the UK: In danger of populism?", *Cities*, Vol. 153, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2024.105273</u>.

Guerrero Casas, M. and D. Kramer (2024), "Dreaming a better urban future with Open Streets: Ideas from three African cities", *Nature Cities 2024*, Vol. 1(1), pp.7-9, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s44284-023-00002-8</u>.

Halldórsdóttir, K., O. A. Nielsen and C. G. Prato (2017), "Home-end and activity-end preferences for access to and egress from train stations in the Copenhagen region", *International Journal of Sustainable Transportation*, Vol. 11(10), pp. 776-786, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15568318.2017.1317888</u>.

Hanson, S. (2010), "Gender and mobility: New approaches for informing sustainability", *Gender, Place & Culture*, Vol. 17(1), pp. 5-23, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09663690903498225</u>.

Harms, L. and K. Maarten (2018), Cycling Facts.

Haroon, W. et al. (2024), "Analyzing young adult travelers' perception and impacts of carpooling on traffic sustainability", *Sustainability 2024*, Vol. 16(14), p. 6098, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/SU16146098</u>.

Hudson, B., D. Hunter and S. Peckham (2019), "Policy failure and the policy-implementation gap: can policy support programs help?", *Policy Design and Practice*, Vol. 2(1), pp. 1-14, https://doi.org/10.1080/25741292.2018.1540378.

Human Impact Partners (2011), A Health Impact Assessment Toolkit - A Handbook to Conducting HIA, 3rd Edition, https://humanimpact.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/A-HIA-Toolkit_February-2011_Rev.pdf.

Hunter, R. F. et al. (2023), "Advancing urban green and blue space contributions to public health", *The Lancet Public Health*, Vol.8(9), p735-742, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(23)00156-1</u>.

Imperial College London (n.d.), *National and urban scale modelling: the UKIAM model*, Faculty of Natural Sciences, Imperial College London, Centre for Environmental Policy, <u>https://www.imperial.ac.uk/</u><u>environmental-policy/research/projects-centres-networks-affiliations/iau/iam/ukiam/</u> (accessed 29 July 2024).

ICCT (2021), Update on electric vehicle uptake in European cities, Working Paper 2021-37, https://theicct.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/ev-uptake-eu-cities-oct21.pdf

ITF (2024), "Fare's fair: Experiences and impacts of fare policies", International Transport Forum Policy Papers, No. 132, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://www.itf-oecd.org/fares-fair-experiences-impacts-fare-policies</u>.

ITF (2023a), *How Improving Public Transport and Shared Mobility Can Reduce Urban Passenger Emissions*, International Transport Forum presentation, Paris, <u>https://www.itf-oecd.org/reduce-urban-passenger-emissions</u>.

ITF (2023b), *Improving the quality of walking and cycling in cities: Summary and conclusions*, ITF Roundtable Reports, No. 192, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/cdeb3fe8-en</u>.

ITF (2023c), ITF Transport Outlook 2023, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/b6cc9ad5-en.

ITF (2023d), *Shaping Post-Covid Mobility in Cities: Summary and Conclusions*, ITF Roundtable Reports, No. 190, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/a8bf0bdb-en</u>.

ITF (2022a), "Reporting Mobility Data: Good Governance Principles and Practices", *International Transport Forum Policy Papers*, No. 101, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/b988f411-en</u>.

ITF (2022b), *Urban Planning and Travel Behaviour: Summary and Conclusions*, ITF Roundtable Reports, No. 189, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/af8fba1c-en.

ITF (2013), *Cycling, Health and Safety, ITF Research Reports*, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9789282105955-en</u>.

lungman, T. et al. (2023), "Cooling cities through urban green infrastructure: a health impact assessment of European cities", *The Lancet*, Vol. 401(10376), pp. 577-589, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(22)02585-5</u>.

Ivanovic, S. S., J. Wood and R. S. Purves (2023), "Evaluation of bicycle sharing scheme data as a proxy for cycling mobility – How COVID-19 measures influenced cycling in Paris" *Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives*, Vol. 22, p. 100937, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TRIP.2023.100937</u>.

Kacar, D. and A. Alpan (2018), "The revival of the industrial heritage in Eskisehir-Turkey through the rehabilitation of the Porsuk River", *GBER Special Edition 2018*, pp. 86-100, <u>https://www.academia.edu</u>/41639534/The revival of the industrial heritage in Eskisehir Turkey through the rehabilitation of <u>the Porsuk River</u>.

Kahlmeier, S. et al. (2023), "The Health Economic Assessment Tool (HEAT) for walking and cycling - experiences from 10 years of application of a health impact assessment tool in policy and practice" *Frontiers in Sports and Active Living*, 5, <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/FSPOR.2023.1146761</u>.

Karlsson, M., N. Westling and O. Lindgren (2023), "Climate-Related Co-Benefits and the Case of Swedish Policy", *Climate*, Vol. 11(2), <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cli11020040</u>.

Kent, J. L. (2014), "Carsharing as active transport: What are the potential health benefits?", *Journal of Transport & Health*, Vol. 1(1), pp.54-62, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JTH.2013.07.003</u>.

Khavarian-Garmsir, A. R. et al. (2023), "From Garden City to 15-Minute City: A Historical Perspective and Critical Assessment", *Land 2023*, Vol. 12(2), p.512, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/LAND12020512</u>.

Khreis, H., May, A. D. and M. J. Nieuwenhuijsen (2017), "Health impacts of urban transport policy measures: A guidance note for practice", *Journal of Transport & Health*, Vol.6, pp.209-227, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JTH.2017.06.003</u>.

Kim, H. and Y. Jung (2019), "Is Cheonggyecheon sustainable? A systematic literature review of a stream restoration in Seoul, South Korea", *Sustainable Cities and Society*, Vol. *45*, pp.59-69, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCS.2018.11.018</u>.

Kjellstrom, T. et al. (2003), "Comparative assessment of transport risks—how it can contribute to health impact assessment of transport policies", *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, Vol. 81(6), pp.451-457. World Health Organization, <u>https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/268959</u>.

Kosmidis, I. and D. Müller-Eie (2024), "The synergy of bicycles and public transport: A systematic literature review", *Transport Reviews*, *44*(1), 34-68, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01441647.2023.2222911</u>.

Kotak, D. (2022), *Mumbai: Sunday Street to be hosted at 9 locations after overwhelming response*, India Today, <u>https://www.indiatoday.in/cities/mumbai/story/mumbai-sunday-street-hosted-9-locations-overwhelming-response-sanjay-pandey-1932925-2022-04-03</u>.

La Ville de Paris (2022), Le Plan vélo de Paris (2015-2020), https://www.paris.fr/pages/paris-a-velo-225.

La Ville de Paris (2021), *Plan Velo (2021-2026)*, https://cdn.paris.fr/paris/2021/12/08/2fc9cb8ad6db58b6bfde3e6ccfc4c48c.pdf. Lamanna, M. et al. (2020), "The Association between Public Transportation and Social Isolation in Older Adults: A Scoping Review of the Literature", *Canadian Journal on Aging (La Revue Canadienne Du Vieillissement)*, Vol. *39*(3), pp.393-405, <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0714980819000345</u>.

Latif, S., H. Rashid and A. Nasir (2023), "Impact Assessment of Traffic Noise in a Densely Populated Industrial City, Faisalabad Pakistan Using Geostatistical Approach and Development of Sustainable Transportation System Framework", *Geology, Ecology, and Landscapes*, Vol. 7(4), pp.369-383, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/24749508.2021.2022575</u>.

Le, H. T. K., and A. Poom (2024), "Advancing environmental exposure and health impact assessment research with travel behaviour studies", *Transport Reviews*, Vol. 44(4), pp. 733-742. https://doi.org/10.1080/01441647.2023.2297454.

Lee, A. C. K., H. C. Jordan, and J. Horsley (2015), "Value of urban green spaces in promoting healthy living and wellbeing: Prospects for planning", *Risk Management and Healthcare Policy*, Vol. 8, p. 131, https://doi.org/10.2147/RMHP.S61654.

Lee, J. Y., and C. D. Anderson (2013), "The restored Cheonggyecheon and the quality of life in Seoul", *Journal of Urban Technology*, Vol. 20(4), pp.3-22, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10630732.2013.855511</u>.

Lehmann, S. (2016), "Sustainable urbanism: towards a framework for quality and optimal density?", *Future Cities and Environment 2016*, Vol. 2(1), pp.1-13, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/S40984-016-0021-3</u>.

Lenzi, A. et al. (2020), "New competences to manage urban health: Health City Manager core curriculum", *Acta Bio-Medica : Atenei Parmensis*, Vol. 91(3-S), pp.21-28, https://doi.org/10.23750/ABM.V91I3-S.9430.

Leroutier, M. and P. Quirion (2023), "Tackling car emissions in urban areas: Shift, avoid, improve", *Ecological Economics*, Vol. *213*, p.107951, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLECON.2023.107951</u>.

Li, W., N. Liu and Y. Long (2023), "Assessing carbon reduction benefits of teleworking: A case study of Beijing", *Science of The Total Environment*, Vol. *889*, p. 164262, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2023.164262.

Lopez, B. et al. (2023), "Metal contents and size distributions of brake and tire wear particles dispersed in the near-road environment", *Science of The Total Environment*, Vol. 883, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.163561.

Markevych, I. et al. (2017), "Exploring pathways linking greenspace to health: Theoretical and methodological guidance", *Environmental Research*, Vol. 158, pp.301-317, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2017.06.028</u>.

Martens, K. (2020), "A justice perspective on transport and health", *in Advances in Transportation and Health: Tools, Technologies, Policies, and Developments*, pp. 197-221, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-819136-1.00008-5</u>.

Matsuda, N. et al. (2019), "Association between public transportation use and loneliness among urban elderly people who stop driving", *Gerontology & Geriatric Medicine*, Vol. 5, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2333721419851293</u>.

Mehaffy, M. W. et al. (2022), *The road forward: Cost-effective policy measures to decrease emissions from passenger land transport*, UNEP DTU Partnership, <u>https://orbit.dtu.dk/en/publications/the-road-forward-cost-effective-policy-measures-to-decrease-emiss</u>.

Mehdipanah, R. et al. (2019), "Effects of superblocks on health and health inequities: A proposed evaluation framework", *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, Vol. 73(7), pp.585-588, <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/JECH-2018-211738</u>.

Moreno, C. et al. (2021), "Introducing the "15-Minute City": Sustainability, Resilience and Place Identity in Future Post-Pandemic Cities", *Smart Cities*, Vol. 4(1), pp.93-111, https://doi.org/10.3390/smartcities4010006.

Moreno, J. et al. (2024), "The impacts of decarbonization pathways on Sustainable Development Goals in the European Union", *Communications Earth & Environment 2024*, Vol. 5(1), pp.1-14, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s43247-024-01309-7</u>.

Moreno, T. and E. de Miguel (2018), "Improving air quality in subway systems: An overview", *Environmental Pollution*, Vol. 239, pp.829-831, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2018.01.077</u>.

Mueller, N. et al. (2018), "Health impact assessment of cycling network expansions in European cities", *Preventive Medicine*, Vol. 109, pp.62-70, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.12.011</u>.

Mueller, N. et al. (2017), "Urban and transport planning related exposures and mortality: A health impact assessment for cities", *Environmental Health Perspectives*, Vol. 125(1), pp.89-96, <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp220</u>

Nieuwenhuijsen, M. et al. (2024), "The Superblock model: A review of an innovative urban model for sustainability, liveability, health and well-being", *Environmental Research*, Vol. 251, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2024.118550</u>.

Nieuwenhuijsen, M. J. (2016), "Urban and transport planning, environmental exposures and health-new concepts, methods and tools to improve health in cities", *Environmental Health: A Global Access Science Source*, Vol. 15(1), pp.161-171, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-016-0108-1</u>.

Nieuwenhuijsen, M. J. (2020), "Urban and transport planning pathways to carbon neutral, liveable and healthy cities; A review of the current evidence", *Environment International*, Vol. 140, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105661</u>.

Nieuwenhuijsen, M. J. (2021), "New urban models for more sustainable, liveable and healthier cities post covid19; reducing air pollution, noise and heat island effects and increasing green space and physical activity", *Environment International*, Vol. 157, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2021.106850</u>.

OECD (n.d.), *Modelling the burden of disease* — *SPHeP-NCDs documentation*, OECD Public Health Explorer, <u>http://oecdpublichealthexplorer.org/ncd-doc/ 2 1 Modelling Principles.html</u> (accessed 24 July 2024).

OECD (2021), *Transport Strategies for Net-Zero Systems by Design*, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/0a20f779-en</u>.

Oh, K., et al. (2021), "Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 20th anniversary: accomplishments and future directions", *Epidemiology and Health*, Vol. 43, <u>https://doi.org/10.4178/EPIH.E2021025</u>.

Ohlund, H. et al. (2022), "Building Emergent Cycling Infrastructure During the COVID-19 Pandemic: The Case of Zapopan, México", *Frontiers in Sustainable Cities*, Vol. 4, <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/frsc.2022.805125</u>.

Okyere, S. A. et al. (2023), "Planning for walkable cities in Africa: Co-producing knowledge on conditions, practices, and strategies", *Societal Impacts*, Vol. 1(1–2), <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socimp.2023.100005</u>.

Oviedo, D., et al. (2024), *Transforming Unwalkable Cities: Research Note*, Walking Cities Lab/Walk21, London, <u>https://www.walkingcitieslab.com/_files/ugd/b4aba8_1978919704ae4b688c4dcda6c2dd</u> <u>1b67.pdf</u>.

Parajuli, A. and D. Pojani (2018), "Barriers to the pedestrianization of city centres: perspectives from the Global North and the Global South", *Journal of Urban Design*, Vol. 23(1), pp.142-160, https://doi.org/10.1080/13574809.2017.1369875.

Pojani, D. and D. Stead (2015), "Sustainable urban transport in the developing world: Beyond megacities", *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, Vol. 7(6), pp.7784-7805, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/SU7067784</u>.

Pozoukidou, G. and Z. Chatziyiannaki (2021), "15-minute city: Decomposing the new urban planning Eutopia", *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, Vol. 13(2), pp. 1-25, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/SU13020928</u>.

Prior Filipe, R. et al. (2024), "Forecasting and Mapping the Environmental and Health Impacts of Sustainable Regional Transport Policies", *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, Vol. *16*(11), p.4728, https://doi.org/10.3390/su16114728.

Pucher, J. and R. Buehler (2008), "Making Cycling Irresistible: Lessons from The Netherlands, Denmark and Germany", *Transport Reviews*, Vol. 28(4), pp.495-528, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01441640701806612</u>.

Ramirez-Rubio, O. et al. (2019), "Urban health: An example of a "health in all policies" approach in the context of SDGs implementation", *Globalization and Health*, Vol. 15(1), <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/S12992-019-0529-Z</u>.

Ravensbergen, L., R. Buliung and N. Laliberté (2019), "Toward feminist geographies of cycling", *Geography Compass*, Vol. 13(7), <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/GEC3.12461</u>.

Sánchez, G.R. (n.d.), *Consulta el mapa de la ciclovía y arma plan para rodar en Bogotá ¡A pedalear!* Alcadia de Bogota, <u>https://bogota.gov.co/mi-ciudad/movilidad/mapa-de-la-ciclovia-en-bogota-kilometros-y-corredores-habilitados</u> (accessed 24 July 2024).

SAVM (2024), *Velib' en chiffres - avril 2024*, Syndicat Autolib' Velib' Métropole, <u>https://autolibmetropole.fr/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/Velib-en-chiffres-avril-2024.pdf</u> (accessed 15 October 2024)

Scoppa, M., K. Bawazir and K. Alawadi (2018), "Walking the superblocks: Street layout efficiency and the sikkak system in Abu Dhabi", *Sustainable Cities and Society*, Vol. 38, pp.359-369, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCS.2018.01.004.

Seoul Metropolitan Government (n.d.), *Climate Card – Seoul*, https://world.seoul.go.kr/policy/transportation/climate-card/ (accessed 24 July 2024).

Shin, J.-H. and I.-K. Lee (2006), *Cheong Gye Cheon restoration in Seoul, Korea,* <u>https://www.icevirtuallibrary.com/doi/pdf/10.1680/cien.2006.159.4.162</u>.

Sioui, L., C. Morency and M. Trépanier (2013), "How Carsharing Affects the Travel Behavior of Households: A Case Study of Montréal, Canada", *International Journal of Sustainable Transportation*, Vol. 7(1), pp.52-69, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15568318.2012.660109</u>.

Smit, W. et al. (2011), "Toward a research and action agenda on urban planning/design and health equity in cities in low and middle-income countries", *Journal of Urban Health*, Vol. 88(5), pp.875-885, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-011-9605-2</u>.

Stahlke, T. (2023), "Climate policy and the concept of co-benefits in India", *Journal of Social and Economic Development*, Vol. 25(1), pp.86-102, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40847-023-00235-2</u>.

Strain, T. et al. (2024), "National, regional, and global trends in insufficient physical activity among adults from 2000 to 2022: a pooled analysis of 507 population-based surveys with 5·7 million participants", *The Lancet, Global Health*, Vol. 12(8), <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(24)00150-5</u>.

Teixeira, J. F., C. Silva and F. Moura e Sá (2023), "Factors influencing modal shift to bike sharing: Evidence from a travel survey conducted during COVID-19", *Journal of Transport Geography*, Vol. 111, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JTRANGEO.2023.103651.

The Indian Express (2022), *Mumbai to host 'Sunday Streets' each week, some roads to remain shut for few hours*, Mumbai News - The Indian Express, <u>https://indianexpress.com/article/cities/mumbai/mumbai-sunday-streets-every-week-roads-shut-7835938/</u>.

Thondoo, M. et al. (2023), "Health impact assessment: an innovative approach for 15-minute cities", *Resilient and Sustainable Cities: Research, Policy and Practice*, pp.343-353, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-91718-6.00022-0</u>.

Times of India (n.d.), *Happy Streets*, <u>https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/topic/Happy-Street</u> (accessed 24 July 2024).

Times of India (2023), Happy Streets: Happy Streets in Aundh concludes with a bang, *Pune News*, <u>https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/pune/happy-streets-in-aundh-concludes-with-a-bang/articleshow/105888759.cms</u>.

Tobollik, M., et al. (2016), "Health impact assessment of transport policies in Rotterdam: Decrease of total traffic and increase of electric car use", *Environmental Research*, Vol. 146, pp. 350-358, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2016.01.014.

Tokay Argan, M. (2016), "Eskişehir, Turkey as a crossroads for leisure, travel and entertainment", *Cities*, Vol. 56, pp. 74-84, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CITIES.2016.03.006</u>.

Tran, M.-C. (2016), "Healthy cities — walkability as a component of health-promoting urban planning and design", *Journal of Sustainable Urbanization, Planning and Progress*, Vol. 1(1), pp. 11-21, https://www.udspub.com/ajj/public/index.php/jsupp/article/view/73.

TUMI (2021), "The 15-Minute City Concept", In *Transformative Urban Mobility Initiative*, <u>https://www.transformative-mobility.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/TUMI_The-15-Minute-City_2021-07-75xNWP.pdf</u>.

Tuna, A. (2015), "Effects Of Urban Parks On Urban Ecology: A Case Study On The City Of Eskisehir", *Duzce University Journal of Science and Technology*, Vol. 3(2), pp. 535-543, https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/dubited/issue/4810/66305.

UN Habitat (2022), World Cities Report 2022 - Envisaging the Future of Cities, United Nations Human Settlements Programme, <u>https://unhabitat.org/world-cities-report-2022-envisaging-the-future-of-cities</u>.

UN Habitat (n.d.), *Eskisehir Urban Development Project | Urban Agenda Platform, United Nations Human Settlements Programme* <u>https://www.urbanagendaplatform.org/best-practice/eskisehir-urban-</u><u>development-project</u> (accessed <u>24</u> July 2024).

UNECE (n.d.), *THE PEP*, *United Nations Economic Commission for Europe*, <u>https://unece.org/thepep</u> (accessed 26 November 2024).

UNEP (2004), Environmental Impact Assessment and Strategic Environmental Assessment: Towards an Integrated Approach, United Nations Environment Plan,

https://www.unep.org/resources/report/environmental-impact-assessment-and-strategicenvironmental-assessment-towards.

University of Cambridge (n.d.), *Integrated Transport and Health Impact Modelling Tool (ITHIM)*, University of Cambridge, MRC Epidemiology Unit, <u>https://www.mrc-epid.cam.ac.uk/research/research/areas/public-health-modelling/ithim/</u> (accessed 29 July 2024).

Van Schalkwyk, M. C. I. and J. S. Mindell (2018), "Current issues in the impacts of transport on health", *British Medical Bulletin*, Vol. 125(1), pp.67-77, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/BMB/LDX048</u>.

Vandervalk, A. (2012), *Turning data into information for transport decision making*, Cambridge Systematics, Inc., <u>https://aetransport.org/public/downloads/zYJtR/5594-5218a23756fcf.pdf</u>.

Velázquez-Cortés, D. et al. (2023), "Health benefits of Open Streets programmes in Latin America: A quantitative health impact assessment", *The Lancet. Planetary Health*, Vol. 7(7), e590–e599, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(23)00109-2</u>.

Ville de Paris (2022), *Paris ville du quart d'heure, ou le pari de la proximité,* <u>https://www.paris.fr/dossiers/paris-ville-du-quart-d-heure-ou-le-pari-de-la-proximite-37</u>.

Vizianagaram (2017), *Happiness on streets*, Newsletter, https://cdma.ap.gov.in/sites/default/files/2.%20July%202017%20-%20Happy%20Streets.pdf.

Westenhöfer, J. et al. (2023), "Walkability and urban built environments—a systematic review of health impact assessments (HIA)", *BMC Public Health*, Vol. 23(1), pp.1-19, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-023-15394-4</u>.

Whitmee, S. et al. (2024), "Pathways to a healthy net-zero future: report of the Lancet Pathfinder Commission", *The Lancet*, Vol. 403(10421), pp.67-110, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(23)02466-2</u>.

WHO (n.d.a), *SDG Target 3.6 Road traffic injuries,* World Health Organization, from <u>https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/topics/sdg-target-3_6-road-traffic-injuries (</u>accessed 24 July 2024).

WHO (2019), Plan d'action mondial de l'OMS pour promouvoir l'activité physique 2018-2023 - Des personnes plus actives pour un monde plus sain, World Health Organization, https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/327168/9789242514186-fre.pdf.

WHO (2022), *Ambient (outdoor) air pollution*, World Health Organization, <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ambient-(outdoor)-air-quality-and-health</u>.

WHO (2023a), *Global status report on road safety 2023*, <u>https://www.who.int/teams/social-</u><u>determinants-of-health/safety-and-mobility/global-status-report-on-road-safety-2023</u>.

WHO (2023b), Urban governance for health and well-being: A step-by-step approach to operational research in cities, World Health Organization, <u>https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/372160/9789</u>240073036-eng.pdf?sequence=2.

WHO (2023c), *Noncommunicable diseases*, World Health Organization, September 16, <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/noncommunicable-diseases</u>.

WHO (2024), *Physical activity*, World Health Organization, <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/physical-activity</u>.

Wien (n.d.), *Bicycles and Public Transportation*, <u>https://www.wien.info/en/livable-</u>vienna/sports/cycling/bicycles-public-transportation-341268 (accessed 24 July 2024).

World Economic Forum (2018), *In Finland, speeding tickets are linked to your income*, World Economic Forum, Global Cooperation, <u>https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2018/06/in-finland-speeding-tickets-are-linked-to-your-income/</u>.

WRI (n.d.), *The 15-Minute City*, World Resources Institute, WRI Ross Center Prize for Cities, <u>https://prizeforcities.org/project/15-minute-city</u> (accessed 7 August 2024).

WRI Africa (2023), *Car-free days in Addis Ababa: Taking Stock*, World Resources Institute, <u>https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/car-free-days-addis-ababa-taking-stock-wri-africa/</u>.

Zhang, Q. et al. (2024), "Direct measurement of brake and tire wear particles based on real-world driving conditions", *Science of The Total Environment*, Vol. 906, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.167764.

Zumelzu, A. and M. G. Herrmann-Lunecke (2021), "Mental well-being and the influence of place: Conceptual approaches for the built environment for planning healthy and walkable cities", *Sustainability* 2021, Vol.13(11), p. 6395, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/SU13116395</u>.

Annex A. Composition of the ITF policy scenarios

This table outlines the policy pathway assumed under the Current and High Ambition scenarios over the next three decades till 2050, as used for this project and in the ITF Transport Outlook 2023.

Measures feeding into ambition scenarios	Current Ambition target – 2050	Higher Ambition target – 2050
Economic instruments These include road pricing and parking pricing are gradually set up or enhanced worldwide.	When implemented, road pricing can increase non-energy-related car-use costs by up to 5%. Meanwhile, parking prices are expected to increase further, by up to 40%.	Road pricing increases non-energy- related car-use costs by 1.8%-18%, while parking prices increase by 13%-100%.
Infrastructure enhancement Transport infrastructure enhancements, including the expansion of bicycle and pedestrian networks, the development and expansion of public transport systems, and express lanes for buses, are set up or enhanced worldwide.	Bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure networks increase by 13%-200%, while public transport systems expand by up to 67%. Meanwhile, express or priority lanes comprise up to 27% of bus networks and public transport fares decrease by 1%-5%, due to integrated ticketing.	Bike and pedestrian infrastructure networks increase by 26%-334%, while public transport systems expand by up to 134%. Meanwhile, 6%-40% of the bus networks are prioritised and public transport fares decrease by 1%-8.4%, due to integrated ticketing.
Service improvements Transport service improvements, including public transport service optimisation, shared-mobility incentives, carpooling policies and support for Mobility as a Service (MaaS) systems, are set up or enhanced worldwide.	Public transport service levels change by between -7% and 20%. The number of shared vehicles per capita is boosted by 0%-134%. The average private vehicle occupancy rate grows by 2.3%-5.6%. Meanwhile, MaaS systems decrease fares for public transport and shared mobility by 0.6%-6.7%.	Public transport service levels increase by between 6% and 34%. The number of shared vehicles per capita is boosted by 3%-200%. The average private vehicle occupancy rate grows by 5.1%-11.2%. Meanwhile, MaaS systems decrease fares for public transport and shared mobility by 1.3%-13.4%.
Regulatory measures An extensive set of regulatory measures, including speed limitations, parking restrictions, and urban vehicle- restriction schemes, are gradually enforced more strongly.	Speed limits decrease by 1.3%-20%. Between 3.3% and 34% of urban surface areas are subject to parking constraints. Car ownership decreases by 11.7%	Speed limits decrease by 3.3%-33.4%. Between 4.6% and 50% of urban surface areas are subject to parking constraints. Car ownership decreases by between 2.3% and 16.7%.
Other Additional measures, including land-use policies, transit-oriented development (TOD) and teleworking-promotion policies, are gradually improved.	The average population density ranges between -6.7% and 13.4%. There is a 3.3% increase in the land-use mix. Exogenous changes such as teleworking are maintained after the pandemic. Between 1.6% and 13.4% of the active population teleworks regularly.	The average population density increases by up to 26.7%. There is a 5% increase in the land-use mix. Between 2.3% and 20% of the active population teleworks regularly.

Annex B. Selected global models interlinking urban mobility and health

Below are some key models, presented in three distinct groups based on their focus. The list is not exhaustive, adding to the fact that some of these tools were adjusted over the years or were adapted for other focuses. Except for the UKIAM model, which is specific to the United Kingdom, the other tools have global application.

Integrated transport, health, and environmental modelling

These models combine transport and health assessments, often integrating environmental factors like air pollution.

Model name	Key features	Main model inputs	Main model outcomes
Health Impact Assessment (HIA)	Combines mixed methods to identify and quantify a policy or intervention's health impacts and distribution and analyses the link between health and inequalities.	Census data, death and disease registries, population surveys and interviews, environment data, traffic safety, community violence, access to parks, etc.	Varies by data types: qualitative datasets lead to more ethnographic results, while quantitative datasets tend to produce more epidemiologic results. HIA outcomes identify health effects, assess risks and analyse health equity.
Health Economic Assessment Tool (HEAT)	Quantitatively translates the benefits of cycling and walking into economical assessments using comparative risk assessment methodologies.	Datasets on demographics, physical activities, transport modes (e.g. volume of walking and cycling), health (e.g. mortality, traffic crash rates), economics, air pollution, etc.	Economical evaluation of how active mobility affects health and carbon emissions.
Integrated Transport and Health Impact Modelling Tool (ITHIM)	Quantifies health impacts of transport strategies using microsimulation to assess changes in pollution-related illnesses and traffic injuries.	Requires five + users, city- specific data (travel, injuries, demography, activity), and global files for health outcomes, pollution, and physical activity.	Estimates health impacts by comparing travel patterns and modelling intervention effects, including physical activity, traffic injuries, air pollution, CO_2 emissions, and health outcomes.
Integrated Sustainable Transport Health Assessment Tool (iSThAT)	Evaluates health and economic benefits of carbon reduction in urban transportation.	Country- and city-specific data (pollution, economic, epidemiological, fuel emissions, etc.)	Provides annual trends from 2015 to 2050 and calculates health risks using impact pathway analysis, tracking pollutants from release to health impact within different scenarios.

Sources:

HIA: Human Impact Partners (2011). HEAT: WHO (2017): University of Cambridge (n.d.). ISThAT: WHO (n.d.).

Air pollution exposure and health impact modelling

Model name	Key features	Main model inputs	Main model outcomes
UK Integrated Assessment Model (UKIAM)	Represents current and future emission scenarios, evaluates abatement effectiveness, and assesses health benefits from reduced air pollution.	Traffic flows and emissions from multiple sources (road transport, etc.).	Evaluates the effectiveness of abatement measures in reducing air pollution exposure and health impacts.
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA), and Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA)	Structured methods for gathering and evaluating environmental information before making policy decisions.	Historical environmental data (e.g. air quality, noise levels, biodiversity, etc.), legal and policy frameworks, and stakeholder surveys, etc.	EIA predicts environmental changes from specific projects like highways or power stations and provides management advice. SEA assesses impacts of broader policies, laws, and plans. Both include evaluations of social, economic, health, and environmental impacts.

These models focus specifically on air pollution and its direct effects on public health.

Sources:

UKIAM: Imperial College London (n.d.). EIA and SEA: UNEP (2004).

Health-specific risk and economic evaluation models

These models assess health risks and economic implications without direct transport or environmental components.

Model name	Key features	Main model inputs	Main model outcomes
Comparative Risk Assessment (CRA)	Evaluates how exposure to risk factors affects health using a causal comparison approach.	Death and disease registries, risk factor data, demographic information, etc.	This approach enables multi- causal health outcomes, recognising that morbidity and mortality result from multiple risk factors.
OECD's Strategic Public Health Planning for NCDs (SPHeP-NCD) model	Simulates health outcomes and assesses the economic impacts of policies.	Demographic characteristics, risk factor profiles, disease epidemiology, health expenditure, and labour market characteristics.	The burden of behavioural risk factors and chronic diseases on population health and economy. Assesses potential impacts of public health options.
The Value of a Statistic Life (VSL)	Provides an evaluation of the economic value of preventing negative chemical-related health outcomes.	Demographic data (age, gender, income level), mortality risk, economic data (wages and compensation for jobs, expenditure data), health data (general health conditions, risks factors), survey data, etc.	Estimations of the economic value of reducing death risk, the efficiency of interventions, and the willingness to pay for small reductions in mortality risk.

Sources: CRA: Kjellstrom et al. (2003). SPHeP-NCDs: OECD (n.d.). VSL: World Bank (2010).

Annex C. List of Workshop participants

Pauline BAUDENS, Intern, International Transport Forum (ITF) Luca BECCASTRINI, FS Research Centre Coordination, FS Italiane, Italy Dominique BOUQUET, Project Assistant, ITF Olof BYSTROM, Senior Economist, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Iran CHARRY, Project Leader E-Fuels, Aramco Overseas Company, Netherlands Stella CHECA CANAS, Intern, ITF Bert D'HOOGHE, Advisor EU Public Affairs, Volvo Malithi FERNANDO, Project Manager - Sustainable Transport, ITF Christophe GIRARDOT, Directeur Général – Carbon Solutions, TotalEnergies, France Isabel GÓMEZ, Analyst, Iberdrola, Spain Sonja KAHLMEIER, Head of Health Research, Swiss Distance University of Applied Sciences, Switzerland Meleckidzedeck KHAYESI, Technical Officer, Department of Injuries and Violence Prevention, World Health Organisation (WHO) Haneen KHREIS, Senior Research Associate, Cambridge University, United Kingdom Thomas KNIGHT, Development Director, Transport - UK, Europe and Africa, Mott MacDonald, United Kingdom Aliénor LEROUGE, Programmer (Health Policy Simulation Model), OECD Natalia LLERAS, Programme Manager, Walk21 Andréia LOPES AZEVEDO, Active Travel Cluster Lead, Polis Network, Belgium Vittorio MANENTE, Project Manager, Aramco Overseas Company Luis MARTINEZ, Lead Modeller / Transport Analyst, ITF Sharon MASTERSON, Manager, Corporate Partnership Board, ITF Orla MC CARTHY, Team Lead, ITF Soichiro MINAMI, Senior Research Officer, Policy Research Institute for Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism, Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism (MLIT), Japan Mark NIEUWENHUJSEN, Director of the Urban Planning, Environment and Health Initiative, ISGlobal, Spain Jorge PEREIRA, Healthier Mobility program manager, ALSTOM Christophe POUTS, Policy Planning, ExxonMobil, France Philippe QUIRION, Senior Scientist, Centre national de la recherche scientifique (CNRS), France Francesca RACIOPPI, Head of Office, WHO European Centre for Environment and Health, WHO Regional Office for Europe Alexis ROCA, Policy Planning Executive, ExxonMobil, France

Marta ROFIN SERRA, Director (Healthy Cities), Bax and Company, Spain

Haruki SAWAMURA, Research Officer, Policy Research Institute for Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism, MLIT, Japan

Vatsalya SOHU, Project Manager, ITF

Juliette TENART, Senior Consultant, Bax and Company, Spain

Mallory TROUVÉ, Modeller/Analyst, ITF

Daniel VELAZQUEZ CORTÉS, Predoctoral Fellow, ISGlobal

Philippe VENTEJOL, Senior Advisor, RATP Group, France

Transport Forum

Health Impacts of Low-carbon Transport in Cities

Evidence for Better Policies

Urban transport is a major contributor to air pollution, greenhouse gas emissions, and associated health risks. It can disproportionately affect vulnerable groups while driving up healthcare costs. Addressing these challenges is crucial to creating liveable, equitable and sustainable cities.

Ambitious low-carbon transport measures can drastically cut emissions, save trillions of life years, and slash healthcare costs by hundreds of billions annually. Yet health is rarely considered as part of transport policy making.

This report promotes a transition to low-carbon mobility that prioritises environmental goals and human well-being. By evaluating low-carbon policy scenarios, the report offers evidence-based recommendations for policy makers to integrate health into transport and urban planning. It features insights to invest in active and public transport infrastructure, and equity-centred approaches to urban development. It is a roadmap for creating sustainable cities that are healthier, safer, and more inclusive.

International Transport Forum 2 rue André Pascal F-75775 Paris Cedex 16 +33 (0)1 73 31 25 00 contact@itf-oecd.org www.itf-oecd.org

